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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT 

Overview 
 
The last eighteen months has been a period of major change at nanosynth group plc (nnn) with a new name, a new board and a new 
direction. During the year the Group refocused on the development and commercialisation of its core nano-particle platform technology 
and dispensed with non-core activities, including the return of Cloudveil Limited to its founders and, the disposal of the majority of 
Gyrometric Systems Ltd. The Group also announced a strategic review and has emerged in a stronger position than this time last year 
with a healthy balance sheet, a clear and achievable business strategy and a new team positioned to deliver against the Group’s 
strategic goals.  
 
Board changes 
 
The Company implemented a number of board changes in the period.  The major challenge for the new board was a complete strategic 
review.  The Board was also keen to build on the innovations behind the anti-viral face mask and develop further products using the 
same technology, alongside the development of products for the agricultural sector, which had been the founding principle behind 
Pharm2Farm (P2F). 
 
Financials 
 
With a year of substantial change and complete refocus, the results for the 2021 financial year provide limited meaningful insight into 
the future of the business and in fact incorporate costs associated with the required strategic shift. 
 
Operating expenses related to continuing operations before current asset impairments increased to £2,538k from £960k in 2020 
reflecting the greater activity within the Group and incorporating a number of one-off costs required to reposition the business. Revenue 
from continuing operations increased to £209k in 2021 from £1k in 2020, which was derived solely from the P2F division.   
 
During the period the Company raised £939,225 net of costs through the issue of new shares as a result of the exercise of warrants 
and options. In addition, £1,505,000 was received during this financial year in respect of shares issued in the previous period.  
 
Cash as at 31st December 2021 was £3.8m, and at the date of this report, the Group had net cash of £1.8m which is considered to be 
more than sufficient to cover the expected working capital requirements of the Group for at least the next twelve months. 
 
Strategic review 
 
As a result of the deep strategic review, the decision was made to evolve the Group’s mask strategy to focus on licensing the core anti-
viral technology into the market rather than manufacturing masks directly.  As a result of market changes it was not considered financially 
viable to continue manufacturing masks and, as previously notified, the mask machine was disposed of and the existing stock has been 
fully provided for in these accounts given the likely incremental cost of readying that stock for commercial sale.  The remaining masks 
that have been manufactured will be made available to good causes including local hospitals and care homes. 
 
The ground-breaking technology that was developed for the anti-viral face masks is being further refined for use in the HVAC market 
through a joint venture company, Virosynth, that has been formed with a leading vertically integrated media manufacturer, Volz Luftfilter 
GmbH. Through the JV arrangement, nanosynth expects to benefit from the heightened awareness of, and demand for, cleaner air in 
all public environments. 
 
Beyond HVAC, there are seven additional specific market verticals that have been identified for the development and application of 
nanoparticle technology with strategic partners. These areas include animal health and wellbeing, cosmetics, medical, plants, food and 
drink, functional coatings and electronics.  In each of these areas, specific use-cases and development projects have been defined and 
strategic partners have been identified. The Company is currently in discussion with a number of major companies and trading partners 
within the seven identified markets and will be progressing these discussions in order to target the conclusion of successful commercial 
agreements within the second half of 2022, galvanising the confidence and clear value the Board see in nanosynth group and its new 
commercial strategy.   
 
At this point, it is noted the future strategy shared on 1 June 2022 is not impacted by the current situation surrounding Ukraine nor the 
associated sanctions imposed on Russia other than the global shift in commodity prices, a risk we aim to manage with our target trading 
partners and supply agreements. 
 
Mark Duffin, Chief Executive of nanosynth, commented: 
 
“I would like to thank all of the Company’s shareholders for their support. The Board is firmly focused on delivering concrete agreements 
with commercial parties and looks forward to updating shareholders as it progresses its various initiatives. At the beginning of the year, 
the Board was considering various M&A opportunities however, in the current economic climate this is not now a near term focus though 
the Company will always consider opportunities where it can deliver value to shareholders and build scale to its operations.  After the 
groundwork that has been carried out during the year to date, I am confident that the second half of 2022 will see further positive 
developments at nanosynth and we look forward with renewed optimism.” 
 
 
 
Richard Clarke 
Non-Executive Chairman 
Dated   
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STRATEGIC REPORT 
 
The Directors present their Strategic Report on the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021. 
 
Principal activities and business review 
The principal activity of nanosynth group plc (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) following the disposals set out 
below was the utilisation of nano particle technology. 
 
During 2021 the Group sought to grow through the development of its Pharm 2 Farm Limited business whilst ending its activities in other 
areas. 
 
Financial review and key performance indicators 
During the year the Company disposed of 74% of its interest in Gyrometric Systems Ltd and 100% of its interest of Cloudveil Ltd to their 
former founders for nominal amount. Comparatives have been restated as a result of the disposals. 
 
Key performance indicators 
 
The historical key performance indicators for the Group are as follows although given the changes identified in the Chairman’s 
Statement during the year these provide few meaningful indications about the year. 

 
2021 

£ 

2020 

£ 

Revenue from continuing operations 208,778 600 

Administrative expenses of continuing operations 2,537,934 960,357 

Loss after tax for the year from continuing operations 3,179,384 968,905 

Earnings per share (pence) from continuing operations - loss 0.15 0.12 

Net assets 4,959,667 6,896,805 

Cash and cash equivalents 3,760,992 3,741,135 

 
Current trading and future developments 
 
As detailed in the Chairman’s Statement the year has been one of change with a new board and a strategic review changing the future 
direction of the Group. 
 
Principal risks and uncertainties 
There are risks associated with the Group’s business.  The Board regularly reviews the risks to which the Group is exposed and has 
in place a strategy to mitigate these risks as far as possible.  The following summary, which is not exhaustive, outlines some of the 
key risks and uncertainties facing the Group at its present stage of development.  
 
The Directors have considered the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the business. On the positive side, it can be expected that 
over the longer term the pandemic could lead to greater demand for a range of anti-pathogenic products deriving from P2F’s anti-viral 
technology.  On the negative side, lockdowns, either at local or national levels, disrupt working practices and logistics potentially 
leading to delays in sales and production. As the restrictions continue to be eased in the UK and most of Europe, it is hoped that the 
downsides will disappear. 
 
The Directors believe the future strategy shared on 1 June 2022 is not impacted by the current situation surrounding Ukraine nor the 
associated sanctions imposed on Russia other than the global shift in commodity prices, a risk we aim to manage with our target 
trading partners and supply agreements. 
 
Operating risks 
The responsibility of overseeing the day-to-day operations and the strategic management of the Group depends substantially on its 
senior management and its key personnel. There can be no assurance given that there will be no detrimental impact on the Group if 
one or more of these employees cease their employment. 

 
The Group’s business planning is carried out on the basis of expected future work. The Group is reliant upon securing new contracts. 
There is a risk that expected contracts will not be won. The directors mitigate this risk by monitoring the pipeline of future contracts.  
There is significant risk regarding new contracts with the ongoing restrictions due to Covid-19.  Management is closely monitoring the 
situation. 

 
The operations of the Group may be affected by various factors, including operational and technical difficulties; difficulties in 
commissioning and operating plant and equipment; equipment failure or breakdown, and the failure of clinical or agricultural trials (or 
similar). 
 
Financial risk factors 
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management 
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial 
performance. 
 
Credit risk 
Credit risk arises from outstanding receivables.  Management does not expect any losses from non-performance of these receivables. 
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STRATEGIC REPORT (continued) 
 
Liquidity risk 
At the date of this report the Group has net cash of £1.8m and therefore the Directors are confident that there are adequate cash 
reserves with which to finance operations. Controls over expenditure are carefully managed. 

 
Capital risk management 
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, in 
order to enable the Group and Company to continue its activities and bring its products to market. The Company defines capital based 
on the total equity of the Company. The Company monitors its level of cash resources available against future planned activit ies and 
may issue new shares in order to raise further funds from time to time. 
 
Section 172 statement 
Under section 172 of the Companies Act 2006, directors of a company must act in the way that they consider, in good faith, would be 
most likely to promote the success of the company for the benefit of its members as a whole, and in doing so have regard (amongst 
other matters) to: 
(a) the likely consequences of any decision in the long term, 
(b) the interests of the company's employees, 
(c) the need to foster the company's business relationships with suppliers, customers and others, 
(d) the impact of the company's operations on the community and the environment, 
(e) the desirability of the company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct, and 
(f) the need to act fairly as between members of the company. 
 
The Chairman’s Statement details the Group’s future plans to achieve its long-term strategy.  The Corporate Governance Report, as 
detailed on pages 8 to 11, sets out the adherence to maintaining high standards of business conduct, as also demonstrated by the 
increase in the number of non-executive directors on the Company’s Board since the year end.   
 
The Group is committed to maintaining an excellent reputation and strive for high standards, while maintaining an awareness of the 
environmental impact of the work that they do and strive to reduce their carbon footprint. 
 
The Directors recognise the importance of wider stakeholders in delivering their strategy and achieving sustainability within the business; 
in ensuring that all our stakeholders are considered as part of every decision process we believe we act fairly between all members of 
the Company. 
 
This Strategic Report was approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on                          by: 
 
 
 
 
Mark Duffin 
Chief Executive Officer 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT  
 
The Directors present their Report together with the audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2021. 
 
General information 
The principal activity of nanosynth group plc (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) is now only the utilisation of 
nanoparticle technology after a strategic review decided to dispose of interests in the developing and manufacturing digital monitoring 
and safeguarding systems for rotating shafts, security and risk management consultancy and related software and services which 
was completed during the year. 
 
Dividends 
The Directors do not recommend payment of a dividend (2020: £nil).  
 
Directors’ indemnities 
The Group has made qualifying third-party indemnity provisions for the benefit of its Directors which were made during the year and 
remain in force at the date of this report. 
 
Directors’ interests 
The Directors who held office in the year and their beneficial interests in the Company’s issued share capital at the beginning and end 
of the accounting year were: 
 

   
Ordinary 

Shares 
Ordinary 

Shares 

   
Interest at 

31 December 
2021 

Interest at 
31 December 

2020 

   No. No. 

Paul Ryan (resigned 8 January 2021)   n/a - 

Trevor Brown (resigned 23 February 2021)   n/a - 

John Richardson (resigned 1 November 2021)   n/a - 

Antony Legge (appointed 11 January 2021, resigned 8 November 2021) n/a n/a 

Richard Clarke (appointed 11 January 2021)   - n/a 

Alexander Vergopoulos (appointed 18 January 2021, resigned 19 February 2021) n/a n/a 

Gareth Cave (appointed 19 April 2021)   289,645,185 n/a 

Felicity Sartain (appointed 19 April 2021)   - n/a 

Mark Duffin (appointed 1 September 2021) - n/a 

 
Major shareholdings 
The closing mid-market price of the Company’s Ordinary 0.01p Shares at 31 December 2021 was 1.18p.  Shareholders holding more 
than 3% of the Company’s shares at the date of this report were: 
 

 Ordinary 
shares % 

Gareth Cave 289,645,185 13.93 

 
Capital structure 
Details of the issued share capital, together with details of the movements in the Company’s issued share capital during the year, are 
shown in note 20.   
 
The holders of Ordinary Shares are entitled to receive notice of, and to attend and vote at, any General Meeting of the Company. 
Every member present at such a meeting shall, upon a show of hands, have one vote. Upon a poll, holders of all shares shall have 
one vote for every share held. All Ordinary Shares are entitled to participate in any distributions of the Company’s profits or assets.  
There are no restrictions on the transfer of the Company’s Ordinary Shares. nanosynth group plc’s ordinary 0.01p shares are traded 
solely on the AIM market. 
 
The Company also has Deferred Shares in issue, the holders of which are not entitled to vote at General Meetings and have no 
entitlement to distributions.  
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 
 
Going concern 
The Financial Statements have been prepared assuming the Group and Company will continue as a going concern.   
 
The operational requirements of the Group comprise of maintaining a Head Office in the UK alongside its UK operations. The Directors 
have reviewed the Group’s working capital forecasts, as stated in the Strategic Report.   
 
At the date of this report the Group had net cash of £1.8m which is considered to be more than sufficient to cover the expected working 
capital requirements of the Group for at least the next twelve months. 
 
The Directors have completed a strategic review in order to ascertain the best use of the cash reserves currently held by the Group 
as detailed in the Chairman’s Statement. 
 
Matters covered in the Strategic Report 
The Business Review, results, review of KPIs and details of future developments are included in the Strategic Report and Chairman’s 
Statement. 
 
Events after the reporting year 
Events after the reporting period are set out in Note 35 to the Financial Statements. 
 
Brexit 
The main trading entities operate in the UK and Europe.  Regulatory changes means that medical devices, such as P2F’s anti-viral 
mask, need separate certifications in order to be sold in the UK and in Europe.  There may be further divergence of regulation that 
would affect future products developed by P2F.  Delivery of raw materials from or through Europe may also be subject to increased 
transportation times and costs. The Directors will continue to monitor the situation closely and act accordingly. 
 
Disclosure of information to auditor 
Each of the persons who is a Director at the date of approval of this annual report confirms that: 

i) so far as each Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware; and 
ii) the Directors have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a Director to make themselves aware of any relevant 

audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of that information. 
 
By Order of the Board 
 
 
 
Mark Duffin 
Chief Executive Officer 
Date 
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES STATEMENT 
 
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Financial Statements in accordance with applicable law and 
regulations. 
 
Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year.  Under that law the Directors have 
prepared the Group and Parent Company Financial Statements in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards.  
Under company law the Directors must not approve the Financial Statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair 
view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Parent Company and of the profit or loss of the Group and Parent Company for that 
year.   
 
In preparing these Financial Statements, the Directors are required to: 
 

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;  

• make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;  

• state whether applicable UK-adopted international accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and 

• prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and Parent 
Company will continue in business. 

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group and Parent 
Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and the Parent 
Company and enable them to ensure that the Financial Statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.  They are also responsible 
for safeguarding the assets of the Parent Company and the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
 
The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the Company’s 
website.  Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions. 
 
The Company is compliant with the AIM Rule 26 regarding the Company’s website. 
 
By Order of the Board 
 
 
 
 
Mark Duffin 
Chief Executive Officer 
Date
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
 
The Company, as an AIM listed company, is required to maintain on its website details of a recognised corporate governance code, how 
the Company complies with this code and an explanation of any departure from the code. The information is reviewed annually and the 
website includes the date on which the information was last reviewed. This review was last completed on 14 February 2022 and set out 
below:  
 
Corporate Governance Report 
 
Following concerns raised during the financial year ended 31 December 2020 over the issue of warrants as part of a placing, and the 
subsequent appointment of two new independent directors, the Board appointed Mark Duffin as Chief Executive Officer on 1 September 
2021 and Antony Legge moved to a position of non-Executive Chairman which was more consistent with the QCA code. Mr Duffin 
immediately assumed all strategic and operational responsibility for the Company and set about reinforcing and refining elements of the 
Company’s direction. On 8 November 2021 Antony Legge resigned from his role of non-Executive Chairman and was replaced by Richard 
Clarke who had previously been a non-Executive Director. 
 
The QCA Code sets out 10 principles that should be applied. These are listed below together with a short explanation of how the Company 
applies each of the principles: 
 
Principle One 
Business Model and Strategy 
Following the appointment of Mark Duffin as CEO, the Board reviewed the strategic direction of the business and a decision was taken 
to remove and reduce involvement in all non-core areas and increase its focus on the creation and deployment of nano-particles into a 
variety of industry sectors, focusing mainly on the investment into and growth of Pharm 2 Farm Ltd. As a result of this review the Company 
disposed of its interest in Cloudveil Ltd on 1 November 2021. On 10 December 2021 the Company signed a joint venture agreement with 
Volz Luftfilter GmbH and created Virosynth Ltd which will allow entry into the HVAC sector, and this is the first initiative to broaden the 
Company’s portfolio. The Company will continue to seek to grow organically both Pharm 2 Farm Ltd and Virosynth Ltd and will seek out 
further complementary acquisitions that create enhanced value.  
 
Principle Two 
Understanding Shareholder Needs and Expectations 
The Board is committed to maintaining good communication and having constructive dialogue with its shareholders. The Company has 
close ongoing relationships with its private shareholders and, as it grows, will look to cultivate relationships with institutional shareholders 
and analysts as appropriate. In addition, all shareholders are encouraged to attend the Company’s Annual General Meeting whenever 
possible. Investors also have access to current information on the Company though its website, www.nanosynthgroup.com, and via its 
appointed PR consultants, IFC Advisory.  
 
Principle Three 
Considering wider stakeholder and social responsibilities 
The Board recognises that the long-term success of the Company is reliant upon the efforts of the employees of the Company and its 
contractors, suppliers, regulators and other stakeholders. The Board has put in place a range of processes and systems to ensure that 
there is close oversight and contact with its key resources and relationships. For example, all employees of the Company participate in a 
structured Company-wide annual assessment process which is designed to ensure that there is an open and confidential dialogue with 
each person in the Company to help ensure successful two-way communication with agreement on goals, targets and aspirations of the 
employee and the Company. These feedback processes help to ensure that the Company can respond to new issues and opportunities 
that arise to further the success of employees and the Company. The Company has close ongoing relationships with a broad range of its 
stakeholders and provides them with the opportunity to raise issues and provide feedback to the Company.  
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (continued) 
 
Principle Four 
Risk Management 
In addition to its other roles and responsibilities, the Audit and Compliance Committee is responsible to the Board for ensuring that 
procedures are in place and are being implemented effectively to identify, evaluate and manage the significant risks faced by the 
Company. The risk assessment matrix below sets out those risks and identifies their ownership and the controls that are in place. This 
matrix is updated as changes arise in the nature of risks or the controls that are implemented to mitigate them. The Audit and Compliance 
Committee reviews the risk matrix and the effectiveness of scenario testing on a regular basis. The following principal risks and controls 
to mitigate them, have been identified: 
 

Activity Risk Impact Controls 

Management Recruitment and 
retention of key staff 

Reduction in operating 
capability 

Stimulating and safe working environment 
Balancing salary with longer term incentive 
plans 
 

 Related Party 
Transactions 

Company forced to accept 
unfair or prejudicial terms 

Strong, independent review of all deals 
with related parties coupled with advice 
from Company’s advisors 
 

Regulatory adherence 
 

Breach of rules  Censure or withdrawal of 
authorisation/certification 

Strong compliance regime instilled at all 
levels of the Company 
 

Strategic Damage to reputation Inability to secure new capital 
or clients 

Effective communications with 
shareholders coupled with consistent 
messaging to our customers 
 
Robust compliance 
 

 Inadequate disaster 
recovery procedures 

Loss of key operational and 
financial data 

Secure off-site storage of data 
 
 

Financial Liquidity, market and 
credit risk 

Inability to continue as going 
concern 

Robust capital management policies and 
procedures 
 

 Inappropriate controls 
and accounting policies 

Reduction in asset values 
 
 
 
Incorrect reporting of assets 

Appropriate authority and investment 
levels as set by Treasury and Investment 
Policies 
 
Audit and Compliance Committee 
 

 
The Directors have established procedures, as represented by this statement, for the purpose of providing a system of internal control. 
An internal audit function is not considered necessary or practical due to the size of the Company and the close day to day control 
exercised by the executive directors. However, the Board will continue to monitor the need for an internal audit function.  
 
Principle Five 
A Well Functioning Board of Directors 
As at the date hereof the Board comprised, the non-executive Chairman, Richard Clarke, the Chief Executive Officer, Mark Duffin, the 
Chief Scientific Officer, Dr Gareth Cave and another non-Executive director, Dr Felicity Sartain, of whom both of the non-executives are 
considered to be independent. Biographical details of the current Directors are set out within Principle Six below.  

Executive and Non-executive directors are subject to re-election at intervals of no more than three years. The letters of appointment of all 
Directors are available for inspection at the Company’s registered office during normal business hours. The Chief Executive Officer is 
currently employed on a full-time basis. Dr Gareth Cave is the founder and Chairman of the Company’s principal subsidiary, Pharm 2 
Farm Ltd. The Board meets at least eight times per annum. It has established an Audit and Compliance Committee and a Remuneration 
Committee, particulars of which appear hereafter. The Board has agreed that appointments to the Board are made by the Board as a 
whole and so has not created a Nominations Committee. The Board considers that this is appropriate given the Company’s current stage 
of operations. It shall continue to monitor the need to match resources to its operational performance and costs and the matter will be 
kept under review going forward. The Board notes that the QCA recommends a balance between executive and non-executive Directors 
and recommends that there be at least two independent non-executives. Currently the Company has two independent non-executives in 
Richard Clarke and Dr Felicity Sartain. As the Company grows and develops the board will periodically review its corporate governance 
framework to ensure it remains appropriate for the size, complexity and risk profile of the Company. The Company has recently appointed 
a full time experienced CFO, Andrew Stedman, although this is not a Board position. This is to bolster the financial capabilities of the 
Company. The Company also took the decision to manage all company secretarial duties internally, thereby dispensing with the services 
of MSP Secretaries Limited. 

Attendance at Board and Committee Meetings  
The Company shall report annually on the number of Board and committee meetings held during the year and the attendance record of 
individual Directors. In order to be efficient, the Directors meet formally and informally both in person, by telephone and by video calls. 
During the year to 31 December 2021 there were regular Board meetings, with all directors being present at all meetings. The volume 
and frequency of such meetings is expected to continue at a similar rate.  
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (continued) 
 
Principle Six 
Appropriate Skills and Experience of the Directors 
The Board currently consists of four Directors and the Company believes that the current balance of skills in the Board as a whole, reflects 
a very broad range of commercial and professional skills across geographies and industries and each of the Directors has experience in 
public markets. As demonstrated below in the descriptions of each Director, the Board has the necessary commercial, financial and legal 
skills required for the effective leadership of the Group. The Board recognises that it currently has a limited diversity, and this will form 
part of any future recruitment consideration if the Board concludes that replacement or additional directors are required. Each Director 
undertakes a mixture of formal and informal continuing professional development as necessary to ensure that their skills remain current 
and relevant to the needs of the Group. 

Mark Duffin 

Chief Executive Officer 
Mark is a qualified Engineer with an MBA. He has extensive experience and leadership in business growth, with skills that include 
leadership in sales/operational management, restructuring, fund raising, increasing profitability, market share and leading teams with 
extensive cross-cultural experience to build shareholder value. He specialises in P&L Management, Board Management, M&A, Start-
up’s, Turnarounds, Private Equity & VC Funding, Negotiations, Financial & Business Modelling, Risk Management, Sales & Operations 
& Cash Management. 
 
Richard Clarke 
Non-Executive Chairman 
Richard Clarke is a Chartered Accountant and has spent the majority of his career in senior executive roles in technology companies 
involved in aerospace, electronics, optics, semiconductors and nanomaterials.  His experience includes business restructuring, scale-up, 
acquisitions and joint-ventures, equity and debt financing and corporate governance, having served on the corporate governance 
committee of the ICAEW for a number of years. He is currently finance director of PowerPhotonic Limited, a manufacturer of advanced 
micro-optics for the laser industry. Prior to joining PowerPhotonic he was finance director of Xennia Technology Limited, a developer of 
industrial inkjet systems, which was sold to Sensient Corporation in 2015. He has a degree in economics from University College London 
(UCL) and an MBA from the University of Bath. 
 
Gareth Cave 
Executive Director 
Gareth Cave Executive Director of Nanosynth Group is a university chemistry lecturer at Nottingham Trent University and has spent his 
academic career researching the many applications of nanotechnology, from drug delivery systems to plant food.  Beyond academia, as 
an active consultant, he shares his knowledge and know how into a plethora of industries including pharmaceutical, healthcare, materials, 
agricultural, food and drink industries.  In 2015 he formed Pharm2Farm Ltd, as a university spinout, to help realise the full commercial 
potential of this nanotechnology research. His world leading academic research and international network, from celebrity chefs to Nobel 
Laureates, continues to supply a strong pipeline of innovation and collaborative opportunities to Pharm2Farm and Nanosynth group.  He 
has B.Sc., M.Sc., and Ph.D. chemistry degrees from the University of Warwick, is an active member of the Royal Society of Chemistry 
and has worked as an academic in UK, USA and Australian universities over the course of his career. 
 
Felicity Sartain 
Non-Executive Director 
Felicity has a multi-disciplinary background established over 15 years including managerial, commercial and research in the Healthcare, 
Life Science and Nanotechnology sectors.  She holds a PhD in Biotechnology from the University of Cambridge and an MSc in Chemistry 
at the University of York.  She was a co-inventor of the original technologies at Smart Holograms, a Cambridge University spin-out that 
designed and developed novel biosensors and founded Profiscio, a consultancy business to support the translation and manage the 
development of scientific innovation.  Felicity is currently Co-Founder and Chief Operating Officer of Closed Loop Medicine. 
 
Principle Seven 
Evaluation of Board Performance 
The Board has undertaken an internal review of the Board, the Committees and individual Directors, in the form of peer appraisal and 
discussions, to determine their effectiveness and performance as well as the Directors’ continued independence. The evaluat ion 
concluded that the Board demonstrates the appropriate level of skills, knowledge and performance for the size and nature of the Group. 
The Directors will continue to review the need to strengthen the Board as the Group develops.   
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (continued) 
 
Principle Eight 
Corporate Culture 
The Board recognises that its decisions regarding strategy and risk will impact the corporate culture of the Company as a whole and that 
this will impact the performance of the Company. The corporate governance arrangements that the Board has adopted are designed to 
ensure that the Company delivers long term value to its shareholders and that shareholders have the opportunity to express their views 
and expectations for the Company in a manner that encourages open dialogue with the Board. The Board is very aware that the tone and 
culture set by the Board will greatly impact all aspects of the Company as a whole and the way that employees behave. A large part of 
the Company’s activities is centred upon what needs to be an open and respectful dialogue with employees, clients and other 
stakeholders. Therefore, the importance of sound ethical values and behaviours is crucial to the ability of the Company to successfully 
achieve its corporate objectives. The Board places great importance on this aspect of corporate life and seeks to ensure that this flows 
through all that the Company does. The Directors consider that at present the Company has an open culture facilitating comprehensive 
dialogue and feedback and enabling positive and constructive challenge. There is frequent dialogue between the Directors and senior 
management of each of its subsidiaries. The Board monitors the corporate culture through a mix of formal and informal feedback, based 
on which the Board is confident that a healthy culture consistent with the principles adopted exists. The Company has adopted, with effect 
from the date on which its shares were admitted to AIM, a code for Directors’ and employees’ dealings in securities which is appropriate 
for a company whose securities are traded on AIM and is in accordance with the requirements of the Market Abuse Regulation which 
came into effect in 2016.  
 
Principle Nine 
Maintenance of Governance Structures and Processes 
Ultimate authority for all aspects of the Company’s activities rests with the Board, the respective responsibilities of the Chairman and 
Executive Directors arising as a consequence of delegation by the Board. The Board has adopted appropriate delegations of authority 
which set out matters which are reserved for the Board. The Chairman is responsible for the effectiveness of the Board and being the 
primary contact with shareholders, while management of the Company’s businesses has been delegated by the Board to the Chief 
Executive Officer.  

Audit and Compliance Committee  
The Audit and Compliance Committee comprises Richard Clarke, Dr Gareth Cave and Dr Felicity Sartain, and Richard Clarke chairs this 
committee. This committee has primary responsibility for monitoring the quality of internal controls and ensuring that the financial 
performance of the Company is properly measured and reported. It receives reports from the executive management and auditors relating 
to the interim and annual accounts and the accounting and internal control systems in use throughout the Company. The Audit and 
Compliance Committee shall meet not less than twice in each financial year and it has unrestricted access to the Company’s auditors.  

Remuneration Committee  
The Remuneration Committee comprises Dr Felicity Sartain, Richard Clarke and Mark Duffin, and Dr Felicity Sartain chairs this committee. 
The Remuneration Committee reviews the performance of the executive directors and employees and makes recommendations to the 
Board on matters relating to their remuneration and terms of employment. The Remuneration Committee also considers and approves 
the granting of share options pursuant to the share option plan and the award of shares in lieu of bonuses pursuant to the Company’s 
Remuneration Policy.  

Nominations Committee  
The Board has agreed that appointments to the Board will be made by the Board as a whole and so has not created a Nominations 
Committee.  

Non-Executive Directors  
The Board has adopted guidelines for the appointment of Non-Executive Directors which have been in place and which have been 
observed throughout the year. These provide for the orderly and constructive succession and rotation of the Chairman and non-executive 
directors insofar as both the Chairman and non-executive directors will be appointed for an initial term of three years and may, at the 
Board’s discretion believing it to be in the best interests of the Company, be appointed for subsequent terms. The Chairman may serve 
as a Non-Executive Director before commencing a first term as Chairman. In accordance with the Companies Act 2006, the Board 
complies with: a duty to act within their powers; a duty to promote the success of the Company; a duty to exercise independent judgement; 
a duty to exercise reasonable care, skill and diligence; a duty to avoid conflicts of interest; a duty not to accept benefits from third parties 
and a duty to declare any interest in a proposed transaction or arrangement.  

Principle Ten 
Shareholder Communication 
The Board is committed to maintaining good communication and having constructive dialogue with its shareholders. The Company 
responds to all shareholders who contact the Directors, and as a result has positive ongoing relationships with a wide range of 
shareholders. All shareholders and analysts have the opportunity to discuss issues and provide feedback at meetings with the Company. 
The Company also provides shareholder updates whenever appropriate using both regulatory and other channels including video 
interviews on Proactive Investors. In addition, all shareholders are encouraged to attend the Company’s Annual General Meeting where 
possible. investors also have access to current information on the Company though its website, www.nanosynthgroup.com, and the 
Company’s retained Financial PR consultants, IFC Advisory Ltd, who are available to answer investor relations enquiries. The Company 
has also appointed an external investor relations firm which will provide a further point of contact for investors. The Board is also reviewing 
options for additional and more regular channels of communication with shareholders. The Company agreed in 2018 to move to electronic 
communications with shareholders in order to maximise efficiency. Paper communications will be maintained for the small number of 
shareholders who have specifically requested this. The Company includes, when relevant, in its annual report, any matters of note arising 
from the audit or remuneration committees.  
 
 
 
Richard Clarke 
Non-Executive Chairman 
Date  
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AUDIT AND COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE REPORT 
 
An important part of the role of the Audit and Compliance Committee (‘the Committee’) is its responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness 
of the Group’s financial reporting, internal control policies, and procedures for the identification, assessment and reporting of risk. The 
Committee devotes significant time to their review and further information on the risk management and internal control systems is provided 
within the Strategic Report.  The Committee currently comprises the following members Richard Clarke (Chairman), Dr Felicity Sartain 
and Dr Gareth Cave. The Committee convened twice during 2021 with all members at the time being present at each meeting. 
 
A key governance requirement of the Group’s financial statements is for the report and accounts to be fair, balanced and understandable. 
The coordination and review of the Group wide input into the Annual Report and Accounts is a sizeable exercise performed within an 
exacting time frame. It runs alongside the formal audit process undertaken by external Auditors and is designed to arrive at a position 
where initially the Committee, and then the Board, is satisfied with the overall fairness, balance and clarity of the document and is 
underpinned by the following: 
 

• detailed guidance issued to contributors at operational levels; 

• a verification process dealing with the factual content of the reports; 

• thorough review undertaken at different levels that aims to ensure consistency and overall balance; and 

• comprehensive review by the senior management team. 
 
An essential part of the integrity of the financial statements are the key assumptions and estimates or judgements that have to be made. 
The Committee reviews key judgements prior to publication of the financial statements at the full and half year, as well as considering 
significant issues throughout the year. In particular, this includes reviewing any materially subjective assumptions within the Group’s 
activities. The Committee reviewed and was satisfied that the judgements exercised by management on material items contained within 
the Annual Report were reasonable. 
 
The Committee also considered management’s assessment of going concern with respect to the Group’s cash position and its 
commitments for the next 12 months. In this respect, the Committee refers to the Going concern section in the Directors’ Report. 
 
The Committee has considered the Group’s internal control and risk management policies and systems, their effectiveness and the 
requirements for an internal audit function in the context of the Group’s overall risk management system. The Committee is satisfied that 
the Group does not currently require an internal audit function. 
 
The Committee meets not less than twice each year and has unrestricted access to the Company’s auditors. 
 
 
 
Richard Clarke 
Chairman of the Audit Committee 
Date 
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE REPORT  
 
The Remuneration Committee (‘the Committee’) comprises Dr Felicity Sartain (Chair), Richard Clarke and Mark Duffin. 
 
The Committee convened twice during 2021 with all members at the time being present at each meeting and has been engaged on all 
matters of corporate remuneration. Over the past year, the Committee has considered the following matters: 
 

• Director remuneration; 

• Senior Management remuneration and incentives including options 
 
Shares and share options were awarded to a number of senior employees during the year. 
 
The Committee, when reviewing remuneration, consider matters of retention, motivation, the economic climate, and the challenges facing 
the business and the wider sector; they also consider appropriate industry benchmarks. The annual remuneration for the Directors is 
noted in the Financial Statements. 
 
 
 
Dr Felicity Sartain 
Chair of the Remuneration Committee 
Date 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF NANOSYNTH GROUP PLC 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
Opinion  

We have audited the financial statements of Nanosynth Group Plc (the ‘parent company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘group’) for the year 
ended 31 December 2021 which comprise the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated and Parent Company 
Statements of Financial Position, the Consolidated and Parent Company Statements of Changes in Equity, the Consolidated and Parent 
Company Cash Flow Statements and Notes to the Financial Statements, including significant accounting policies. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and UK-adopted international accounting standards and as regards 
the parent company financial statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.  

In our opinion:  

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31 

December 2021 and of the group’s loss for the year then ended;  

• the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards; 

• the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting 

standards and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and 

• the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.  

Basis for opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. 
We are independent of the group and parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied to listed entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Conclusions relating to going concern  

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation 
of the financial statements is appropriate. Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the group’s and parent company’s ability to 
continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting included: 

• obtaining and assessing management’s group working capital model which extended through to 30 June 2023; 

• agreeing cash balances to the opening position within management’s working capital model; 

• challenging management’s working capital model for alternative downside scenarios and assessing their likelihood and 

mitigation procedures that could be drawn upon. 

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually 
or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group's or parent company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least 
twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this 
report. 

Our application of materiality  

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. The quantitative and qualitative thresholds for materiality determine 
the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures. Materiality for the consolidated financial statements was 
set at £64,000 (2020: £99,000) based on the group’s gross assets with performance materiality for the group set at £38,400 (2020: 
£59,400), being 60% of financial statement materiality.  In determining performance materiality, we made the significant judgement of 
setting it at 60% based on the fact that there has been a number of changes in Management during the period which could increase the 
probability of errors in the financial statements. Gross assets are considered to be a key benchmark as the group is yet to generate 
significant revenues and holds significant intangible assets which it is seeking to exploit. 

Materiality for the parent company financial statements was set at £57,000 (2020: £63,000), with gross assets being used as the 
benchmark with performance materiality for the parent company set at £34,200 (2020: £37,800), being 60% of financial statement 
materiality.  In determining performance materiality, we made the significant judgement of setting it at 60% based on the fact that there 
has been a number of changes in Management during the period which could increase the probability of errors in the financial statements. 
Gross assets are considered to be a key benchmark as the parent company holds investments in the group and finances the group via 
intercompany transactions.   

For each component in the scope of our group audit, we allocated a materiality that was less than our overall group materiality. Component 
materiality for significant and/or material subsidiary undertakings ranged from £57,000 to £30,300 (2020: £63,000 to £5,500). 

We agreed with the audit committee that we would report all individual audit differences identified during the course of our group audit in 
excess of £3,200 (2020: £4,950) together with any other audit misstatements below that threshold that we believe warranted reporting on 
qualitative grounds.  For the parent company, this threshold was £2,850 (2020: £3,150). 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF NANOSYNTH GROUP PLC (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
Our approach to the audit 

In designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements. In particular, 
we looked at areas involving significant accounting estimates and judgement by the directors such as the recoverability of intangible fixed 
assets and investments in subsidiary undertakings, as outlined in the Key audit matter section below, and considered events that are 
inherently uncertain.  

We also addressed the risk of management override of controls, including among other matters consideration of whether there was 
evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud. All significant and/or material subsidiary undertakings were 
audited directly by PKF Littlejohn LLP as they were located in the UK, where all books and records are held. 

Key audit matters  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements 
of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) we identified, 
including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts 
of the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  

 

Key Audit Matter How our scope addressed this matter 

Impairment of intangible assets (See Note 14) 
 

 

Included within the Statement of Financial position is £1,764,419 of 
Goodwill relating to the acquisition of Pharm 2 Farm Limited in 
November 2020. 
 
There is a risk that owing to estimation uncertainity these assets are 
impaired in accordance with IAS 38 “Intangible Assets”. 

Our work included: 
 

• Reviewing and challenging management’s value in use 

calculations including rationale behind inputs used. 

• Considering management’s strategy including all 

notifications made to the market concerning business 

lines that have been discontinued and new ones that are 

being developed. 

• Discussing and challenging the basis of key assumptions 

with management, in particular regarding revenue, 

margins and cashflow forecasts. 

• Considering internal and external impairment indicators. 

Valuation and impairment of investments and intercompany 
receivables (See Note 16 & 18) 

 

The parent company holds investments in its subsidiaries of £60k 
and has an intercompany receivable with its subsidiaries of 
£1.814m. 

The loss-making nature of the group and its subsidiaries indicates a 
possibility of impairment to its investments and additionally the 
recoverability of its intercompany receivable. 

Our work included: 

• Verifying the ownership of investments held. 

• We have obtained and reviewed the director’s 

impairment review of the carrying value of the parent 

company’s investment in its subsidiaries.  

• Discussing with management the basis for impairment or 

non-impairment, including consideration of business 

strategy for the subsidiaries, and challenging any 

assumptions made thereon. 

• Reviewing the impairment indicators per IAS 36 and 

assessing how management applied these to the 

investments held and intercompany receivables. 

• Reviewing and challenging management’s impairment 

models, and the assumptions used, as appropriate. 

• Considering the appropriateness of the accounting 

policies and disclosures included in the financial 

statements. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF NANOSYNTH GROUP PLC (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
Other information  

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the annual report. Our opinion on the group and parent 
company financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we 
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, 
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are 
required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we 
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.  

We have nothing to report in this regard.  

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006  

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:  

• the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements are 

prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and  

• the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.  

Matters on which we are required to report by exception  

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and their environment obtained in the course of the 
audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’ report.  

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, 
in our opinion:  

• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been 

received from branches not visited by us; or  

• the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or  

• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or  

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.  

Responsibilities of directors  

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the group and 
parent company financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.  

In preparing the group and parent company financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group and the parent 
company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.  

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our 
responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our 
procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below: 

• We obtained an understanding of the group and parent company and the sector in which they operate to identify laws and 

regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a direct effect on the financial statements. We obtained our 

understanding in this regard through discussions with management. 

• We determined the principal laws and regulations relevant to the group and parent company in this regard to be those arising 

from Companies Act 2006, AIM rules, GDPR, Employment Law, Health and Safety Law, Anti-Bribery and Money Laundering 

Regulations and QCA compliance.  All the subsidiaries operate in the UK and are subject to similar rules to that of the parent 

company. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF NANOSYNTH GROUP PLC (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (continued)  

• We designed our audit procedures to ensure the audit team considered whether there were any indications of non-compliance 
by the group and parent company with those laws and regulations. These procedures included, but were not limited to: 

o Enquires of management  

o Review of Board minutes 

o Review of legal expenses 

o Review of Regulatory News Service (RNS) Announcements 

 

• We also identified the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements due to fraud through revenue recognition. We 

considered this, in addition to the non-rebuttable presumption of a risk of fraud arising from management override of controls.    

• As in all of our audits, we addressed the risk of fraud arising from management override of controls by performing audit 

procedures which included, but were not limited to: the testing of journals; reviewing accounting estimates for evidence of bias; 

and evaluating the business rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business. 

 
Because of the inherent limitations of an audit, there is a risk that we will not detect all irregularities, including those leading to a material 
misstatement in the financial statements or non-compliance with regulation. This risk increases the more that compliance with a law or 
regulation is removed from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, as we will be less likely to become aware of 
instances of non-compliance. The risk is also greater regarding irregularities occurring due to fraud rather than error, as fraud involves 
intentional concealment, forgery, collusion, omission or misrepresentation. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council’s website 
at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.  

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. 
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in 
an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone, 
other than the company and the company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

 
 
Zahir Khaki (Senior Statutory Auditor)  15 Westferry Circus 
For and on behalf of PKF Littlejohn LLP Canary Wharf 
Statutory Auditor London E14 4HD 
                                        2022 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the year ended 31 December 2021  

  

 Note 
2021 

£ 
  2020 

£ 

Revenue from contracts with customers 5 208,778 600 

Cost of sales  (164,027) (14,943) 

Gross profit/(loss)  44,751 (14,343) 

Administrative expenses 6 (2,537,934) (960,357) 

Other operating income  2,000 9,841 

Impairments 6 (687,656) - 

Operating loss   (3,178,839) (964,859) 

Finance costs 10 (545) (4,085) 

Finance income  - 39 

Loss before income tax  (3,179,384) (968,905) 

Income tax 11 - - 

Loss for the year from continuing operations  (3,179,384) (968,905) 

Loss for the year from discontinued operations 12 (173,266) (479,817) 

Total comprehensive income for the year   (3,352,650) (1,448,722) 

    

Loss and total comprehensive income attributable to:    

Equity holders of the parent  (3,340,894) (1,416,088) 

Non-controlling interests  (11,756) (32,634) 

    

Earnings per ordinary share attributable to owners of the parent during the year 
(expressed in pence per share) 

13   

Basic and diluted – continuing operations  (0.15) (0.12) 

Basic and diluted – discontinued operations  (0.01) (0.05) 

Basic and diluted – total   (0.16) (0.17) 

 
The loss for the financial year dealt with in the financial statements of the Parent Company, nanosynth group plc, was £1,445,525 (2020 
£1,543,714). As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, no separate statement of comprehensive income is presented 
in respect of the Parent Company. 
 
The notes on pages 25 to 47 form part of these Financial Statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at 31 December 2021  

  

 Note 
2021 

£ 
  2020 

£ 

Non-current assets     

Intangible assets  14 1,764,419 1,764,419 

Property, plant and equipment   15 42,391 25,661 

Total non-current assets   1,806,810 1,790,080 

Current Assets     

Trade and other receivables  18 80,348 1,925,987 

Corporation tax   1,396 1,396 

Inventories   16,679 63,491 

Cash and cash equivalents  19 3,760,992 3,741,135 

Total current assets   3,859,415 5,732,009 

TOTAL ASSETS   5,666,225 7,522,089 

Equity attributable to owners of the parent     

Share capital  20 5,805,331 5,795,751 

Share premium   20 13,674,215 12,445,569 

Convertible loan stock  22 - 2,000 

Other reserves  23 1,405,836 1,675,276 

Translation reserve   92,181 92,181 

Retained loss   (16,017,896) (13,033,293) 

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT   4,959,667 6,977,484 

Non-controlling interests  24 - (80,679) 

TOTAL EQUITY   4,959,667 6,896,805 

Current liabilities     

Trade and other payables  25 462,483 333,087 

Social security and other taxes   244,075 242,322 

Lease liabilities  26 - 29,500 

Total current liabilities   706,558 604,909 

Non-current liabilities     

Lease liabilities  26 - 7,375 

Provisions  27 - 13,000 

Deferred tax liabilities  28 - - 

Total non-current liabilities   - 20,375 

TOTAL LIABILITIES   706,558 625,284 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILTIES   5,666,225 7,522,089 

 
The notes on pages 25 to 47 form part of these Financial Statements. 

These Financial Statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on                       and were signed on its 
behalf by: 
 
 
Mark Duffin 
Chief Executive Officer 
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PARENT COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at 31 December 2021 
Company number: 09109008 

   

 
Note 

2021 
£ 

  2020 
£ 

Non-current assets     

Property, plant and equipment   15 15,706 3,625 

Investment in subsidiary undertakings  16 60,051 60,000 

Trade and other receivables  18 1,858,024 428,974 

Total non-current assets   1,933,781 492,599 

Current Assets     

Trade and other receivables  18 31,381 1,558,026 

Cash and cash equivalents  19 3,719,134 3,590,521 

Total current assets   3,750,515 5,148,547 

TOTAL ASSETS   5,684,296 5,641,146 

     

Equity attributable to shareholders     

Share capital  20 5,805,331 5,795,751 

Share premium   20 13,674,215 12,445,569 

Convertible loan stock  22 - 2,000 

Other reserves  23 165,835 435,275 

Retained loss   (14,323,846) (13,234,612) 

TOTAL EQUITY   5,321,535 5,443,983 

 

Current liabilities 
    

Trade and other payables  25 308,408 192,623 

Social security and other taxes   54,353 4,540 

Total current liabilities   362,761 197,163 

TOTAL LIABILITIES   362,761 197,163 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   5,684,296 5,641,146 

 
The notes on pages 25 to 47 form part of these Financial Statements. 
 

These Financial Statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on  

and were signed on its behalf by: 
 
 
 
Mark Duffin 
Chief Executive Officer 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
As at 31 December 2021 

 
1Shares issued are net of costs 
 

2Convertible loan stock includes cumulative interest payable by the issue of shares 
 
 
The notes on pages 25 to 47 form part of these Financial Statements 

 
 
 
  

 
Share 

capital 

£ 

 

Share Convertible  

premium   loan stock 

£                   £ 

Other 
reserves 

£ 

Translation 
reserve 

£ 

Retained 

loss 

£ 
Total 

£ 

Non- 
controlling 

interests 

£ 

Total 
equity 

£ 

As at 1 January 2020 5,128,124 6,822,694 103,000 (475,153) 92,181 (11,642,051) 28,795 (48,045) (19,250) 

Loss and total 
comprehensive income for 
the year - - - - - (1,416,088) (1,416,088) (32,634) (1,448,722) 

Shares issued1 667,627 5,612,964 (71,752) - - - 6,208,839 - 6,208,839 

Warrants issued - - - 10,712 - - 10,712 - 10,712 

Warrants exercised - 9,911 - (9,911) - - - - - 

Convertible loan stock 
issued2 

- - 4,085 - - - 4,085 - 4,085 

Convertible loan stock 
redeemed 

- - (33,333) - - - (33,333) - (33,333) 

Share based payments 
arising 

- - - 434,474 - - 434,474 - 434,474 

Share based payments 
expired 

- - - (24,846) - 24,846 - - - 

Merger relief on acquisition - - - 1,740,000 - - 1,740,000 - 1,740,000 

As at 31 December 2020 5,795,751 12,445,569 2,000 1,675,276 92,181 (13,033,293) 6,977,484 (80,679) 6,896,805 

          

As at 1 January 2021 5,795,751 12,445,569 2,000 1,675,276 92,181 (13,033,293) 6,977,484 (80,679) 6,896,805 

Loss and total 
comprehensive income for 
the year 

 

 

- 

 

 

- - - - (3,340,894) (3,340,894) (11,756) (3,352,650) 

Shares issued1  9,580 1,149,662 - - - - 1,159,242 - 1,159,242 

Disposal of subsidiary - - - - - - - 92,435  92,435 

Interest waived - - (2,000) - - - (2,000) - (2,000) 

Warrants exercised - 801 - (801) - - - - - 

Share based payments 
arising - - - 165,835 - - 165,835 - 165,835 

Share based payments 
exercised - 78,183 - (434,474) - 356,291 - - - 

As at 31 December 2021 5,805,331 13,674,215 - 1,405,836 92,181 (16,017,896) 4,959,667 - 4,959,667 
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PARENT COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
As at 31 December 2021 
 
 

 
 

 
1 Shares issued are net of costs 

2 Convertible loan stock includes cumulative interest payable by the issue of shares. 

 

The notes on pages 25 to 47 form part of these Financial Statements. 

  

 

Share  
capital 

£ 

Share  
premium 

£ 

Convertible 
loan stock 

£ 

Share option 
and warrant 

reserve 

£ 

 

Retained  
loss 

£ 

Total 

£ 

As at 1 January 2020  5,128,124 6,822,694 103,000 24,846 (11,715,744) 362,920 

Loss and total comprehensive 
income for the year - - - - (1,543,714) (1,543,714) 

Shares issued1 667,627 5,612,964 (71,752) - - 6,208,839 

Convertible loan stock issued2 - - 4,085 - - 4,085 

Warrants issued - - - 10,712 - 10,712 

Warrants exercised - 9,911 - (9,911) - - 

Convertible loan stock redeemed - - (33,333) - - (33,333) 

Share based payments arising - - - 434,474 - 434,474 

Share based payments expired - - - (24,846) 24,846 - 

As at 31 December 2020 5,795,751 12,445,569 2,000 435,275 (13,234,612) 5,443,983 

As at 1 January 2021  5,795,751 12,445,569 2,000 435,275 (13,234,612) 5,443,983 

Loss and total comprehensive 
income for the year - - - - (1,445,525) (1,445,525) 

Shares issued1 9,580 1,149,662 - - - 1,159,242 

Interested waived - - (2,000) - - (2,000) 

Warrants exercised - 801 - (801) - - 

Share based payments arising - - - 165,835 - 165,835 

Share based payments exercised - 78,183 - (434,474) 356,291 - 

As at 31 December 2021 5,805,331 13,674,215 - 165,835 (14,323,846) 5,321,535 
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
As at 31 December 2021 

   

 
Note 

2021 

£ 

  2020 

£ 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities      

Loss for the year on continuing activities   (3,179,384) (968,905) 

Loss for the year from discontinued operations   (173,266) (479,817) 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment   15 13,714 6,900 

Amortisation of intangible assets   14 - 14,600 

Share based payments    385,852 434,474 

Impairments of inventories    586,013 - 

Impairments of intangible assets    - 363,745 

Release from lease liability    (16,875) - 

Interest income    - (39) 

Finance costs   10 545 4,085 

Interest waived    (2,000) - 

Loss on disposal of fixed assets    4,629 - 

Loss on disposal of discontinued operations   12 68,847 - 

Taxation    - (120,471) 

Increase in inventories    (542,120) (4,879) 

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables    329,900 (229,024) 

Decrease in provisions    (13,000) (7,500) 

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables    214,421 (123,806) 

Cash used in operations    (2,322,724) (1,110,637) 

Income taxes received    - 120,471 

Interest paid    (545) - 

Net cash used in operating activities    (2,323,269) (990,166) 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities      

Purchases of property, plant and equipment   15 (37,562) (518) 

Interest income    - 39 

Proceeds from sale of businesses (net of cash held)    (43,537) 160,275 

Investment in subsidiaries (net of cash acquired)    - 15,592 

Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities    (81,099) 175,388 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities      

Repayment of lease liabilities   30 (20,000) (29,500) 

Repayment of borrowings   30 - (60,825) 

Repayment of loan notes    - (33,333) 

Issue of shares, net of issue costs    2,444,225 4,604,801 

Net cash generated from financing activities    2,424,225 4,481,143 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   19,857 3,666,365 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year    3,741,135 74,770 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December    19 3,760,992 3,741,135 

Non-cash transactions 

The principal non-cash transactions relate to: 
  

 

 
  

- Acquisition of subsidiary   17 - 1,800,000 

- Loan note conversion (including interest)    - 71,752 

    - 1,871,752 

 
The notes on pages 25 to 47 form part of these Financial Statements. 
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PARENT COMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
As at 31 December 2021 

   

 
Note 

2021 

£ 

  2020 

£ 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities      

Loss for the year on continuing activities   (1,445,525) (1,543,714) 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment   15 4,716 4,350 

Share based payments    385,852 434,474 

Impairments   18 85,972 640,201 

Profit on investment disposal    (1) - 

Finance costs   10 545 4,085 

Interest waived    (2,000) - 

Decrease)/(increase) in trade and other receivables    20,494 (35,449) 

Increase in trade and other payables    165,599 53,006 

Cash used in operations    (784,348) (443,047) 

Interest paid    (545) - 

Net cash used in operating activities    (784,893) (443,047) 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities      

Purchases of property, plant and equipment   15 (16,797) - 

Investment in subsidiaries   16 (51) - 

Disposal of subsidiary undertakings proceeds    1 - 

Loans to subsidiary undertakings    (1,513,872) (542,684) 

Net cash used in investing activities    (1,530,719) (542,684) 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities      

Repayment of loan notes    - (33,333) 

Issue of shares, net of issue costs    2,444,225 4,604,801 

Net cash generated from financing activities    2,444,225 4,571,468 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   128,613 3,585,737 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year    3,590,521 4,784 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December    19 3,719,134 3,590,521 

Non-cash transactions 

The principal non-cash transactions relate to: 
  

 

 
  

- Acquisition of subsidiary   16 - 60,000 

- Loan note conversion (including interest)    - 71,752 

    - 131,752 

 
The notes on pages 25 to 47 form part of these Financial Statements. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
1 General information 
 
nanosynth group plc (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) conducted three main activities during the year, as 
detailed in note 12, two of these were discontinued. The Company is incorporated and domiciled in the UK and its registered office is 27-
28 Eastcastle Street, London W1W 8DH.  During the year the company changed its name to reflect the continuing activity of the Group. 
 
The Company’s shares are quoted on the Alternative Investment Market (“AIM”) of the London Stock Exchange plc.  
 
2 Summary of accounting policies 
 
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these Consolidated Financial Statements are set out below. These policies 
have been consistently applied in the year presented, unless otherwise stated. 
 
(a) Basis of preparation 
 
These Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted International Accounting Standards (“UK-adopted 
IAS”)and the Companies Act 2006.  These accounting policies comply with each IAS that is mandatory for accounting periods ending on 
31 December 2021 except for, in order to present fairly the acquisition of Pharm 2 Farm Limited, the Group has departed from the 
requirements within IFRS 3 relating to the value of the consideration as detailed in note 17. 
 
As a result of the UK leaving the EU, the company has applied UK-adopted IAS.  In the previous year the company applied EU-adopted 
IFRS.  On 1 January 2021 these were identical and no restatements made. 
 
The Financial Statements are presented in GBP (£) rounded to the nearest pound. 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IAS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s Accounting Policies. The areas involving a higher degree 
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the Financial Statements are disclosed in Note 
4. 
 
(b) Going concern basis 
 
At the date of this report the Group had net cash of £1.8m.  The Directors have reviewed the Group’s strategy with regard to future 
investment in its business. 

The Directors have considered the impact of Covid-19 and are closely monitoring the situation. 
 
The Group’s business activities together with the factors likely to affect its future development performance and position are set out in the 
Strategic Report.   
 
For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing its capital, its financial risk 
management objectives, details of its financial instruments and its exposure to credit and liquidity risk can be found in the Strategic Report 
and in Notes 3 and 29. 
 
Based on these assumptions, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group and Company have adequate resources to 
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and therefore have adopted the going concern basis of preparation in these 
Financial Statements. 
 
(c) New and amended standards 
 
Changes in accounting policy 
 
For the purpose of the preparation of these consolidated financial statements, apart from that detailed in 2(a) above the Group and Parent 
Company have applied all standards and interpretations that are effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021. 
 
There were no new standards, amendments and interpretations effective for the first time on or after 1 January 2021 that had a material 
impact on the Group or Parent Company. 
 
New standards, interpretations and amendments not yet effective 
 
Standards, amendments and interpretations that have been published and will be mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2022 are not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s or Parent Company’s results or shareholders’ funds. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 

 
2 Summary of accounting policies (continued) 

 
(d) Basis of consolidation 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from 
its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group 
controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has: 

• Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee). 
• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee 
• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns. 

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights result in control. To support this presumption and when the Group has 
less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing 
whether it has power over an investee, including: 

• The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee. 
• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements. 
• The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights. 

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the 
subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated 
financial statements from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary. The acquisition 
method is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries. 

Acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred. 

The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as the excess of the fair value of the consideration transferred, plus the recognised 
amount of any non-controlling interests, less the recognised amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If this 
consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised in profit or loss. 

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with 
those used by other members of the Group. All intercompany transactions and balances between group entities are eliminated on 
consolidation. 

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. Gains or losses 

on disposals to non-controlling interests are recorded in equity. 

Where considered appropriate, adjustments are made to the financial information of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used 
into line with those used by other members of the Group. All intercompany transactions and balances between Group enterprises are 
eliminated on consolidation. 
 
The Company’s UK subsidiaries use UK GAAP rules to prepare and report their financial statements. The Group reports using IFRS 
standards and in order to comply with the Group’s reporting standards, management of these subsidiaries processed several adjustments 
to ensure the financial information included at a Group level complies with IFRS. These subsidiaries will continue to prepare their company 
financial statements in line with UK GAAP rules.  
 

(e) Segmental reporting 
 
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker 
(“CODM”). The CODM is deemed to be the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer.  
 
Operating segments are identified on the basis of internal reports that are regularly reviewed by the CODM to allocate resources and to 
assess performance. Using the Group’s internal management reporting as a starting point, only one continuing reporting segment set out 
in note 5 has been identified. 
 
The individual financial statements of each Group company are measured in the currency of the primary economic environment in which 
it operates (its functional currency) being US dollar or pounds sterling. For the purpose of the Group Financial Statements, the results 
and financial position are expressed in pounds sterling GBP, which is the presentation currency for the Group and Company. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
2 Summary of accounting policies (continued) 

 
(f) Discontinued operations 

 
A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business, the operations and cash flows of which can be clearly distinguished 
from the rest of the Group and which: 
 

• represents a separate major line of business or geographic area of operations; 
• is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographic area of operations; or 
• is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to re-sale. 

 
Discontinued operations are presented in the income statement as a separate line and are shown net of tax.  Comparative information 
in relation to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income and Consolidated Cashflow Statement has been restated to reflect 
this presentation. 

 
Foreign currencies 
 
Functional and presentation currency 
 
Pounds sterling GBP is considered to be the functional currency.   
 
Transactions and balances 
 
In preparing the financial statements of the individual companies, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency 
(foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the Statement of Financial 
Position date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing on the 
Statement of Financial Position date. Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the translation of monetary 
items at the Statement of Financial Position date, are included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year. 
 
(g) Intangible assets 
 
Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of 
the identifiable net assets acquired. If the total of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and previously held interest 
measured at fair value is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, in the case of a bargain purchase, the 
difference is recognised directly in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to each of the CGUs, or groups of CGUs, 
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated represents 
the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the 
operating segment level. 
 
Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential 
impairment. The carrying value of the CGU containing the goodwill is compared to the recoverable amount, which is the higher of value 
in use and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an expense and is not subsequently 
reversed. 
 
Customer lists and intellectual property rights are shown at fair value at date of acquisition, less amortisation and impairments. Costs 
associated with these are recognised as an expense as incurred.  
 
Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique products controlled by the Company 
are recognised as intangible assets when the following criteria are met: 
 

• it is technically feasible to complete the product so that it will be available for use; 

• management intends to complete the product and use or sell it; 

• there is an ability to use or sell the product; 

• it can be demonstrated how the product will generate probable future economic benefits; 

• adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and use or sell the product are available; and 

• the expenditure attributable to the product during its development can be reliably measured. 
 

The Group’s Intangible assets, other than goodwill acquired on acquisition, are amortised at 20% per annum on a straight line basis.   
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
2 Summary of accounting policies (continued) 

 
At each year end date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its intangible assets other than goodwill if there is an indication of 
impairment to determine if those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the 
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are 
independent from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
 
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value, using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows 
have not been adjusted. 
 
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of 
the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately. 
 
(h) Property, plant and equipment 
 
All property, plant and equipment are shown at cost less subsequent depreciation and impairment. Cost includes expenditure that is 
directly attributable to the acquisition of items.  
 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable 
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The 
carrying amount of any replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income during the financial year in which they are incurred. 
 
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets over their useful economic lives, using the straight-line method, which is 
considered to be as follows: 
 

• Plant and equipment - 5 years 

• Motor Vehicles  - 3 to 5 years 

• Software   - 3 years 

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and, if appropriate, asset values are written down to their estimated recoverable 
amounts, at each Statement of Financial Position date.  
 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amounts and are included in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 
 
(i) Financial assets 
 
The Group and Company has classified all of its financial assets as loans and receivables. The classification depends on the purpose for 
which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. 
 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 
They are included in current assets. The Group’s loans and receivables comprise trade and other receivables and cash and cash 
equivalents in the Statement of Financial Position. 
 
Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs and are subsequently carried at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. 
 
(j) Impairment of financial assets 
 
The Group assesses, on a forward-looking basis, the expected credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised 
cost. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk. A financial asset, or 
a group of financial assets, is impaired, and impairment losses are incurred, only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result 
of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a “loss event”), and that loss event (or events) has an impact 
on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset, or group of financial assets, that can be reliably estimated. 
 
The criteria that the Group and Company uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss include: 

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor; 

• a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal repayments. 

The amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future 
cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred), discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. 
The asset’s carrying amount is reduced, and the loss is recognised in the profit or loss. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
2 Summary of accounting policies (continued) 

 
For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be 
recognised from initial recognition of the receivables. 
 
If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring 
after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the trade and other receivables credit rating), the reversal of the 
previously recognised impairment loss is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 
(k) Trade and other receivables 
 
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for services performed in the ordinary course of business. If collection is expected in 
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented 
as non-current assets. 
 
(l) Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and deposits held at call with banks. 
 
(m) Share capital and reserves 
 
Equity comprises the following: 
 

• Share Capital represents ordinary shares issued at par value and includes “Deferred Shares” below 

• Deferred Shares represents notional shares arising on the redenomination of the nominal share capital at various times and 
have no voting rights.  The Deferred Shares form part of the Share Capital balance shown in the Statement of Financial Position. 

• Share Premium represents the premium paid on shares issued above par value net of issue costs. 

• Retained earnings represents retained losses. 

• Merger reserve represents the difference between the carrying value of the investment and the nominal value of the shares of 
subsidiaries upon consolidation under merger accounting. The merger reserve is presented in “other reserves”. 

• Merger relief reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of shares issued accounted under merger relief and 
the consideration attributed to the shares issued. 

• Share option and warrants reserve represents the fair value of unexpired warrants. 

• Convertible loan stock represents fair value of consideration received together with interest thereon. 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity 
as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 
 
(n) Share-based payments 
 
The Group operates a number of equity-settled, share-based compensation plans, under which the entity receives goods or services from 
employees or third party suppliers as consideration for equity instruments of the Company. The fair value of the equity-settled share 
based payments are recognised as an expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income or charged to equity depending on the nature 
of the services provided or instruments issued. 
 
(o) Trade and other payables 
 
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers. 
Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less. If not, they are presented as non-current 
liabilities. Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value, and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. 
 
(p) Borrowings 

 
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.  Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised cost; 
any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income over the year of the borrowings using the effective interest method. 

 
(q) Revenue recognition 
 
The Group recognises revenue in accordance with IFRS 15 which includes five key steps:  
  
Step 1: Identify the contracts with a customer;  Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract;  Step 3: Determine the 
transaction price;  Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and  Step  5: Recognise revenue 
when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.  
  
The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits will 
flow to the entity, and specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities, as described below: if revenue has been billed but 
the specific performance obligations are not met then this is recognised as deferred revenue.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
2 Summary of accounting policies (continued) 

 
From the Group’s remaining activity of utilisation of functional nanoparticles, revenues are recognised on delivery of the goods.  
  
The Group bases its estimates on historical results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics 
of each arrangement. Where the Group makes sales relating to a future financial period, these are deferred and recognised under 
‘deferred revenue’ on the Statement of Financial Position.   
 
(r) Current and deferred income tax 
 
Income tax represents tax currently payable and deferred tax.  The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable 
profit differs from the loss for the year as reported in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income because it excludes items of 
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The 
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the Statement of Financial 
Position date. 
 
Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the liability 
method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to 
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such 
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or from the initial 
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor 
the accounting loss. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where the Group is 
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future. 
 
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the relevant jurisdiction in the year when the liability is settled or 
the asset is realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, except when it relates 
to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity. Deferred tax is not discounted. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax 
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets 
and liabilities on a net basis. 
 
(s) Leases 
 
Prior to 1 January 2019: Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards were retained by the lessor were classified as 
operating leases.  Payments made under operating leases were charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income on a straight line 
basis over the period of the lease. 
 
Assets held under finance leases were recognised as assets of the Group at the fair value at the inception of the lease or if lower, at the 
present value of the minimum lease payments.  The related liability to the lessor was included in the Statement of Financial Position as a 
finance lease obligation.  Lease payments were apportioned between interest expenses and capital redemption of the liability.  Interest 
was recognised immediately in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, unless attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they were 
capitalised to the cost of those assets. 
 
Post 1 January 2019: Assets held under leases are recognised as assets of the Group at the fair value at the inception of the lease or if 
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments.  The related liability to the lessor is included in the Statement of Financial 
Position as a finance lease obligation.  Lease payments are apportioned between interest expenses and capital redemption of the liability.  
Interest is recognised immediately in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, unless attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they 
are capitalised to the cost of those assets. 
 
Exemptions are applied for short life leases and low value assets, with payments made under operating leases charged to the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income on a straight line basis over the period of the lease. 
 
3 Financial risk management 
 
Group financial risk factors 
 
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks. The Group’s finance function monitors and manages the financial risks 
relating to the operations of the Group. The Group is exposed to market risks (including foreign exchange risk and price risk) and credit 
risk and to a very limited amount interest rate risk and liquidity risk. 
 
Risk management is carried out by the Board of Directors.  The Board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as 
written policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and credit risk, to mitigate financial risk exposures. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
3 Financial risk management (continued) 

 
Market risk 
 
(a) Foreign exchange risk 
The Group has closed its operations located in parts of the world whose functional currency is not the same as the Group’s functional 
currency (GBP Sterling), therefore the foreign exchange risk is low. The Group’s net assets arising from closed US operations are exposed 
to currency risk resulting in gains and losses on retranslation from US Dollar. Due to the minimal amount of transactions in US dollars, 
the Group does not consider hedging its net investments beneficial because the cash flow risk created from such hedging techniques 
would outweigh the risk of foreign currency exposure. It is the Group’s policy to hold surplus funds over and above working capital 
requirements in the Parent Company. The Group considers this policy minimises any unnecessary foreign exchange exposure. 
 
In order to monitor the continuing effectiveness of this policy the Board through their approval of both corporate and capital expenditure 
budgets, and review of the currency profile of cash balances and management accounts, considers the effectiveness of the policy on an 
ongoing basis. 

 
(b) Price risk 
The Group is not exposed to commodity price risk as a result of its operations. The Directors will revisit the appropriateness of this policy 
should the Group’s operations change in size or nature.  
 
Credit risk 
 
Credit risk arises from the Group’s trade receivables. Where no independent rating of customers is available, credit control assesses the 
quality of customers by reference to their financial position, past experience and any other relevant factors.  
 
Interest rate risk management 
 
The Group is not exposed to interest rate risk on financial liabilities. 
 
Liquidity risk management 
 
The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves and by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and 
matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. The Group seeks to manage financial risk, to ensure sufficient liquidity is 
available to meet foreseeable needs and to invest cash assets safely and profitably. 
 
Capital risk management 
 
The Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to stakeholders. 
The Group’s capital structure primarily consists of equity attributable to equity holders of the parent, comprising issued capital, reserves 
and retained losses. 
 
4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements 
 
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of 
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
 
The Group makes estimates and judgements concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates and judgements will, by definition, 
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and judgements that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are addressed below: 
 
Intangible assets  
Intangible assets comprise of goodwill and Intellectual Property acquired on acquisitions.  Goodwill is not amortised, Intellectual Property 
is amortised at 20% per annum on a straight-line basis. 
 
Useful lives are based on management’s estimates of the period that the assets will generate revenues with such records being 
periodically reviewed for continual appropriation. 
 
On acquisitions the group values intangible assets excluding goodwill.   
 
The Group test annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, and of other intangible assets where there is an indication of 
impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy.  Where applicable, the recoverable amounts of cash generating units have been 
determined based on value in use calculations.  The value in use calculations require the entity to estimate future cash flows expected to 
arise from the cash generating unit and apply a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value. These calculations require the 
use of estimates (note 14). 
 
Inventory  
The Group carries its inventory at the lower of cost of net realisable value.  Net realisable value for the inventory of masks and their 
components was considered to have no net realisable value at 31 December 2021 as detailed in the Chairman’s Statement, leading to 
an impairment of £586,013 (note 6).   
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 

 
4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued) 
 
Share Options 
The Group issued employee share options during the year.  
 
The valuation of options used is the Black Scholes model and is detailed in Note 21. Changes to inputs and assumptions, in particular 
concerning the volatility of the Company’s share price and the time to exercise can have a significant effect on the valuation. 
 
5 Segmental analysis 

Management considers that during 2021 there was only one continuing activity as set out below.  The revenue below excludes that of the 
discontinued operations (note 12). 

 

Total revenue from continuing operations is recognised at a point in time and comprises: 

 

Revenue from external customers: 

 
2021 

£ 

2020 

£ 

Utilisation of functional nanoparticles 208,778 600 

 
Revenues from continuing operations are generated by geographical areas as follows: 

 
2021 

£ 

2020 

£ 

United Kingdom 178,082 600 

Europe 9,467 - 

Rest of World 21,229 - 

 208,778 600 

 

The following customers generated more than 10% of the Group’s revenue from continuing operations: 

 
2021 

£ 

2020 

£ 

Customer 1 50,350 600 

Customer 2 50,278 - 

 
Carrying amount of assets: 

 
2021 

£ 

2020 

£ 

United Kingdom 5,666,225 7,552,089 

United States of America - - 

 5,666,225 7,552,089 

 
Carrying amount of liabilities: 

 
2021 

£ 

2020 

£ 

United Kingdom 496,320 423,337 

United States of America 210,238 201,947 

 706,558 625,284 

 
The segmental analysis of the balance sheet is not part of routine management reporting and consequently no activity segmental analysis 
of assets is shown. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
6 Administrative expenses and impairments 
 
The following have been charged in arriving at operating loss: 

 
2021 

£ 
2020 

£ 

Staff costs  992,237 144,603 

Foreign exchange gains and losses (19,200) 13,985 

Depreciation 13,714 6,211 

Audit fees (note 9) 34,130 22,500 

Share based payments expense – share options 165,835 434,474 

Other expenses 1,351,218 338,584 

 2,537,934 960,357 

 
Impairments relate to impairment provisions of £586,013 against the carrying value of inventory of masks and their components and of 
£101,643 against other receivables. 
 
7 Staff costs 
 
The average number of employees, including Directors, was: 

 

2021  

Total 

 

No. 

2021  

Continuing 
operations 

No. 

2020  

Total 

 

No. 

2020  

Continuing 
operations 

No. 

Directors (including subsidiaries) 14 6 12 4 

Sales and development 8 7 2 - 

Administration 2 2 - - 

 24 15 14 4 

 
Employees’, including Directors’ costs comprise: 

 

2021  

Total 

 

No. 

2021  
Continuing 
operations 

No. 

2020  

Total 

 

No. 

2020  
Continuing 
operations 

No. 

Wages, salaries and other staff costs 951,404 901,145 319,697 134,746 

Share option expense 165,835 165,835 434,474 434,474 

Social security costs 78,158 73,388 23,876 9,569 

Pension costs 18,786 17,704 3,358 288 

 1,214,183 1,158,072 781,405 579,077 

 
Pension costs represent contributions to defined contribution pension schemes. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
8 Directors 
 
The Directors during the year, together with Jeremy McNamara, were considered to be the Key Management of the Group. 

 2021 2020 

Group 

Short term 
employee 

benefits 

£ 

Pension 

£ 

Share 
option 

expense 

£ 

Total 

£ 

Short term 
employee 

benefits 

£ 

Pension 

£ 

Share 
option 

expense 

£ 

Total 

£ 

Nigel Burton - - - - (9,182) - - (9,182) 

Paul Ryan 1,032 - - 1,032 48,000 - 217,237 265,237 

Trevor Brown 42,500 - - 42,500 54,167 - 217,237 271,404 

John Richardson 204,290 660 - 204,950 85,000 1,500 - 86,500 

Antony Legge 79,399 729 - 80,128 - - - - 

Richard Clarke 35,532 610 - 36,142 - - - - 

Alexander Vergopoulos - - 63,479 63,479 - - - - 

Gareth Cave 51,028 595 - 51,623 - - - - 

Felicity Sartain 25,385 595 - 25,980 - - - - 

Mark Duffin 65,644 7,770 86,622 160,036 - - - - 

Jeremy McNamara 41,575 2,350 - 43,925 - - - - 

 546,385 13,309 150,101 709,795 177,985 1,500 434,474 613,959 

 
Included in the above charges are amounts paid to Nottingham Trent University totalling £25,643 in respect of the services of Gareth 
Cave. 

 

In addition to the above the company issued shares valuing £113,600 to Ordian Limited and paid fees of £150,000 to FortOak Rolls 
Limited, companies owned by Alex Vergopoulos, for work and related expenses relating to the mask machine and securing supplies. 

 

Paul Ryan was paid his short term employee benefits through a service company, Warande1970 BVBA.  In the prior year Nigel Burton 
agreed to waive some of his accrued benefits on his resignation. 

 

During the year share options were exercised by the directors with an aggregate differential between exercise price and mid market price 
on the issue date totalling £759,501. 

 

The share option expense is detailed further in note 21. 

 

9 Auditors remuneration 

 
2021 

£ 
2020 

£ 

Fees payable for the audit of the Group and Parent Company’s Financial Statements 30,000 22,500 

Additional fees in respect of the audit for the prior year 1,350 - 

Fees payable for other services during the current year 2,780 - 

  34,130 22,500 

 
10 Finance costs 

 
2021 

£ 
2020 

£ 

Interest payable and other finance costs 545 4,085 

 
11 Tax 

 
2021 

£ 
2020 

£ 

Group   

Income tax   

Current tax   

UK Corporation tax credit  - - 

Deferred tax    

Current year - - 

Tax credit - - 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
11 Tax (continued) 
 
The tax on the Group’s loss before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average tax rate applicable 
to the profits/(losses) of the consolidated entities as follows: 
 

 
2021 

£ 

2020 

£ 

Group   

Loss before tax (3,179,384) (968,905) 

Tax at the applicable rate of 19.00% (2020 19.00%):  (604,083) (184,092) 

Effect of:   

Expenses/income not deductible/chargeable for tax purposes 883 11,572 

Advanced capital allowances over depreciation (3,422) 1,180 

Enhanced capital allowances (1,771) - 

Expense timing differences 1,881 - 

Net tax effect of losses carried forward 606,512 171,340 

Tax credit for the year  - - 

 
The tax rate used for 2021 is the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK. 
 
The Group has tax losses of approximately £8,300,000 (2020 £5,200,000) available to carry forward against future taxable profits.  No 
deferred tax asset has been recognised in view of the uncertainty over the timing of future taxable profits against which the losses may 
be offset. 
 
12 Discontinued operations 
 
As detailed in note 17, during the year the Group disposed of 74% of its interest in Gyrometric Systems Ltd and its entire interest in 
Cloudveil Ltd.   
 
During December 2019 the group reached agreement to sell the fixed assets and goodwill within Geocurve Limited. At the same time, a 
formal plan was made to discontinue the Geocurve business. The disposal was completed in January 2020 with the company being 
dissolved in the current year.   
 
In addition, the purchaser agreed to pay a finders fee as a percentage of sales arising from existing customers of the Geocurve business 
for a limited period. These amounts will be credited to income when the respective sales are settled and shown within discontinued 
operations. 
 
Results of the discontinued operations were as follows: 

 
2021 

£ 

2020 

£ 

Revenue  5,938 109,841 

Cost of sales (8,025) (48,364) 

Depreciation and amortisation (658) (15,289) 

Goodwill impairment - (324,812) 

Other costs (120,557) (331,664) 

Other income 18,883 10,000 

Income tax - 120,471 

 (104,419) (479,817) 

Loss on disposal (see below) (68,847) - 

 (173,266) (479,817) 

 
Included in the Group Cash Flow Statement are the following amounts relating to discontinued operations: 

 
2021 

£ 

2020 

£ 

Cash flow from operating activities (165,286) (513,629) 

Cash flow from investing activities (833) 160,275 

Cash flow from financing activities (20,000) (90,325) 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
12 Discontinued operations (continued) 
 

 
2021 

£ 

2020 

£ 

Disposal of discontinued operations   

Property, plant and equipment 2,490 - 

Trade, other receivables and inventories 13,658 - 

Cash 43,548 - 

Trade and other payables (83,283) - 

 (23,587) - 

Non controlling interests 92,435 - 

Proceeds received (1) - 

Loss on disposal 68,847 - 

 

13 Earnings per share 

 
Basic earnings per share has been calculated by dividing the loss attributable to equity holders of the Company after taxation by the 
weighted average number of shares in issue during the year. There is no difference between the basic and diluted loss per share on loss 
making operations.  

Basic and Diluted 

2021 

£ 

2020 

 

Loss after taxation – continuing operations (3,179,384) (968,905) 

(Loss)/profit after taxation – discontinued operations (161,510) (447,183) 

Loss after taxation - total (3,340,894) (1,416,088) 

Weighted average number of shares 2,069,455,379 813,456,106 

Earnings per share (pence) – continuing operations (0.15) (0.12) 

Earnings per share (pence) – discontinued operations (0.01) (0.05) 

Earnings per share (pence) - total (0.16) (0.17) 

 

14 Intangible assets 

 
2021 

£ 

2020  

£ 

Goodwill – Group    

Cost 
At 1 January  

 
2,215,214 450,795 

Additions (note 17)  - 1,764,419 

Disposals (note 17)  (450,795) - 

At 31 December   1,764,419 2,215,214 

Impairment    

At 1 January  450,795 125,983 

Arising during the year  - 324,812 

Disposals  (450,795) - 

At 31 December  - 450,795 

Net book value at 31 December  1,764,419 1,764,419 

 
At the year end, management has reassessed the recoverable amount of the goodwill relating to Pharm 2 Farm Limited based on forecast 
NPV calculations. Management budgeted operating margin based upon current estimated costing and its expectations of market 
development.  The discount rates reflect specific risks relating to the relevant operating segment. The value in use calculations and 
headroom is sensitive to any change in the key assumptions.  Management concluded that the goodwill is not impaired. 
 
The key assumptions used for the Pharm 2 Farm value-in-use calculations were as follows: 
 

EBITDA Specific rates to year 4 then 54% thereafter 

Growth rate Specific annual estimates to year 5 then nil thereafter 

Discount rate  20% 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 

14 Intangible assets (continued) 

 
 

    

Intellectual 
Property 

£ 

Other intangibles – Group      

Cost      

At 1 January 2020     73,000  

At 31 December 2020     73,000 

Disposals     (73,000) 

At 31 December 2021     - 

Amortisation      

At 1 January 2020     19,467 

Amortisation     14,600 

Impairment     38,933 

At 31 December 2020     73,000 

Disposals     
 

(73,000) 

At 31 December 2020     - 

      

Net book value      

At 31 December 2020     - 

At 31 December 2021     - 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
 
15 Property, Plant and Equipment 

  

Right of use 
leasehold 

£ 

Plant & 
equipment 

£ 

 

Software 

£ 

 

Total 

£ 

Group      

Cost      

At 1 January 2020  95,875 38,137  13,050   147,062  

Acquisition of subsidiary  - 24,377 - 24,377 

Additions  - 518 - 518 

Disposals  - (28,956) - (28,956) 

At 31 December 2020  95,875 34,076 13,050 143,001 

Additions  - 37,562 - 37,562 

Disposals  (95,875) (5,667) - (101,542) 

On disposals of subsidiaries  - (5,787) - (5,787) 

At 31 December 2021  - 60,184 13,050 73,234 

Accumulated depreciation      

At 1 January 2020  95,875 35,134 5,075 136,084 

Acquisition of subsidiary  - 3,312 - 3,312 

Charge for the year  - 2,550 4,350 6,900 

Disposals  - (28,956) - (28,956) 

At 31 December 2020  95,875 12,040 9,425 117,340 

Charge for the year  - 10,089 3,625 13,714 

Disposals  (95,875) (1,039) - (96,914) 

On disposal of subsidiaries  - (3,297) - (3,297) 

At 31 December 2021  - 17,793 13,050 30,843 

      

Net book value      

At 31 December 2020  - 22,036 3,625 25,661 

At 31 December 2021  - 42,391 - 42,391 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
 
15 Property, Plant and Equipment (continued) 

 

Plant &  

equipment 

£ 

Software 

£ 

 

Total 

£ 

Company    

Cost    

At 1 January 2020 4,226 13,050 17,276 

Additions - - - 

At 31 December 2020 4,226 13,050 17,276 

Additions 16,797 - 16,797 

At 31 December 2021 21,023 13,050 34,073 

Accumulated depreciation    

At 1 January 2020 4,226 5,075 9,301 

Charge for the year - 4,350 4,350 

At 31 December 2020 4,226 9,425 13,651 

Charge for the year 1,091 3,625 4,716 

At 31 December 2021 5,317 13,050 18,367 

    

Net book value    

At 31 December 2020 - 3,625 3,625 

At 31 December 2021 15,706 - 15,706 

 
16 Investment in subsidiary undertakings 

 2021 
£ 

2020  
£ 

Company     

As at 1 January    60,000 384,601 

Additions (note 17)   51 60,000 

Impairment   - (384,601) 

Cost at 31 December    60,051 60,000 

 
The impairment in 2020 relates to the company’s investments in GyroMetric Limited and Strat Aero International, Inc. 
 
The following are the principal subsidiaries of the Company at 31 December 2021 and at the date of these Financial Statements.  All 
these were incorporated in the UK.  Where applicable these subsidiaries are taking advantage in their individual financial statements of 
audit exemption.  Whilst Virosynth Limited commenced activity during December 2021, there were no financial transactions during the 
period to 31 December 2021. 

Name of company 
 
Registered Address Parent company 

Class of 
shares 

Share 
capital held 

Nature of 
business 

Pharm 2 Farm Limited 27-28 Eastcastle Street, London 
W1W 8DH, UK  

nanosynth group 
plc 

Ordinary 100% Nanoparticle 
applications 

Virosynth Limited Biocity Pennyfoot Street 
Nottingham, NG1 1GF, UK  

nanosynth group 
plc 

Ordinary 51% Anti-pathogenic 
product 

development 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
16 Investment in subsidiary undertakings (continued) 
 
In addition to the above the company has non trading fully owned subsidiaries at 31 December 2021 as follows: 
 
Incorporated in the UK 
Nanosynth Limited 
Nanosynth (Medical) Limited  
 
Incorporated and Registered in United States of America 
Strat Aero International, Inc.  
 
17 Acquisition and disposal of subsidiary undertakings  
 
Acquisitions 
In November 2020 the entire issued share capital of Pharm 2 Farm Limited was acquired.   
 
In the share purchase agreement dated 21 August 2020 the purchase consideration was stated as £1,800,000 to be settled through the 
issue of 600,000,000 ordinary shares.  Due to the need for regulatory and shareholder approval the consideration shares were not issued 
until 5 November 2020 when control of Pharm 2 Farm Limited was obtained.  Under IFRS 3 the consideration would be based on the 
market value of those shares at the point of issue which would equate to £17,700,000.  Management does not believe this fairly reflects 
the acquisition given the volatility of the share price leading up to 5 November 2020 and have used the consideration within the agreement 
of £1,800,000 as a fairer reflection of the agreement.  Pharm 2 Farm is based in the UK and its principal activity is that of utilisation of 
functional nano particles. 

  £ 

Purchase consideration  1,800,000 

Fair value of net assets acquired   35,581 

Goodwill  1,764,419 

 
At acquisition Pharm 2 Farm Limited had rights over intellectual property under 15 year licences signed in 2019.  Whilst management 
believe there is now significant intrinsic value of these licences, at the time of acquisition the estimate of timing and value of income 
generation was insufficiently robust for a reasonable estimate of the valuation of these rights at acquisition to be made. 
 
The goodwill acquired also includes employee knowledge and expertise with regard to nano particle technology applications.  
 
There were no adjustments processed during the year to the fair value of the net assets acquired on the acquisition. 
 
Disposals 
In August 2021 the company returned 74% of its interest in Gyrometric Systems Limited back to its founders for nominal consideration.  
The interest retained represents 15% of the share capital and is included within investments at its estimated fair value of nil. 
 
In November 2021 the company returned its entire interest in Cloudveil Limited back to its founder for nominal consideration. 
 
Both disposals were made following a strategic review of the Groups operations and future investment objectives. 
 
18 Trade and other receivables 

 2021 2020 

 Group Company Group Company 

 £ £ £ £ 

Amounts due from group undertakings - 1,858,024 - 430,124 

Trade receivables 11,362 - 11,535 - 

VAT receivable 50,436 30,008 68,424 23,035 

Other receivables 15,990 - 1,813,877 1,505,000 

Prepayments 2,560 1,373 32,151 28,841 

At 31 December 80,348 1,889,405 1,925,987 1,987,000 

Less: non-current portion - (1,858,024) - (428,974) 

Current portion 80,348 31,381 1,925,987 1,558,026 

 
Amounts due from group undertakings were impaired by a further net £85,972 (2020 £255,600) during the year within the Company. 
 
Other receivables for the Group were impaired during the year by £101,643 (Company £24,750) (2020 Group and Company – nil). 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
18 Trade and other receivables (continued) 
 
The fair value of all receivables is the same as their carrying values stated above. 

 
2021 

£ 
2020  

£ 

Ageing of trade receivables net of provisions - Group:   

Not due 867 630 

0 – 30 days - - 

Over 30 days 10,495 10,905 

 11,362 11,535 

 
The carrying amount of the Group’s trade receivables are all denominated in GB pounds.   
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value reported above. The Group does not hold collateral as 
security. Provisions totalling £2,451 (2020 £20,345) have been made at the year end in respect of trade receivables. 
 
19 Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash at bank is held with credit institutions with an A credit rating.  The carrying amount of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents are 
all denominated in GB pounds. 
 
20 Share capital  

 
  

Group and Company 2021 2020 

Issued equity share capital Number £ Number £ 

Issued and fully paid     

Ordinary shares of 0.01p each 2,079,071,986 207,907 1,983,270,231 198,327 

Deferred shares of 0.1p each  2,358,954,414 2,358,954 2,358,954,414 2,358,954 

Deferred shares of 0.19p each 774,006,790 1,470,613 774,006,790 1,470,613 

A Deferred shares of 0.001p each 17,678,567,358 1,767,857 17,678,567,358 1,767,857 

  5,805,331  5,795,751 

Group and Company 
 

Number of  
deferred  

shares 
 

Number of 
ordinary  

shares 
 

 
Share 

capital 
£ 

Share 
premium 

£ 
Total 

£ 

As at 1 January 2020 20,037,521,772 500,656,790 5,128,124 6,822,694 11,950,818 

Issue of new shares 17 and 20 April 2020 - 160,400,000 320,800 53,488 374,288 

Issue of new shares 10 July 2020 - 112,950,000 225,900 46,086 271,986 

Share subdivision 774,006,790 - - - - 

Loan note conversion 27 October 2020 - 12,801,543 1,280 34,564 35,844 

Exercise of warrants 27 October 2020 - 12,618,928 1,262 34,071 35,333 

Exercise of warrants      

  26 October 2020 to 2 November 2020 - 97,200,000 9,720 476,280 486,000 

Issue of new shares 5 November 2020 - 600,000,000 60,000 (12,200) 47,800 

Exercise of warrants      

  11 to 13 November 2020 - 51,200,000 5,120 250,880 256,000 

Exercise of warrants 12 November 2020 - 12,618,928 1,262 34,071 35,333 

Loan note conversion 12 November 2020 - 12,824,042 1,283 34,624 35,907 

Issue of new shares 16 November 2020 - 10,000,000 1,000 24,000 25,000 

Issue of new shares 18 December 2020 - 400,000,000 40,000 4,637,100 4,677,100 

Release of warrants reserve - - - 9,911 9,911 

As at 31 December 2020 20,811,528,562 1,983,270,231 5,795,751 12,445,569 18,241,320 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
 
20 Share capital (continued) 

 
Between 13 January 2021 and 12 February 2021 the Company issued 62,801,755 new ordinary shares of 0.01p each at a price of 1.4p 
per share raising gross proceeds of £879,224 on the exercise of options by two directors.   
 
On 29 January 2021 6,000,000 warrants for shares were exercised at a price of 0.5p each. 
 
On 23 February 2021 the Company issued 21,000,000 new ordinary shares of 0.01p each in settlement of services provided by two 
directors and compensation and in place of options held by another director. 
 
On 15 April 2021 6,000,000 warrants for shares were exercised at a price of 0.5p each. 
 
Share options in the Company 
 
At 31 December 2020 there were 77,603,512 outstanding share options which had been issued on 9 November 2020.  The options vested 
on issue, had a term of 5 years and an option price of 1.4 pence per share.  All these options were either exercised or forfeited during 
2021. 
 
At 31 December 2021 there were the following options that were outstanding that had been issued during the year, all of which had 
vested: 
 

Number  Exercise price Expiry date 

7,000,000 1.85p 17 February 2024 

2,000,000 1.50p 22 August 2024 

 
In addition 2,000,000 options had been issued during the year which had subsequently been forfeited. 
 
During the year agreement had been made for share options to be issued under the 2021 incentive plan at prices between 1p and 4p.  At 
31 December 2021 all the 103,953,600 options were outstanding and had not vested at that date.  The expiry date of these options was 
31 August 2028.  As detailed in note 35 these options were varied after 31 December 2021.  

Group and Company 
 

Number of  
deferred  

shares 
 

Number of 
ordinary  

shares 
 

 
Share 

capital 
£ 

Share 
premium 

£ 
Total 

£ 

As at 1 January 2021 20,811,528,562 1,983,270,231 5,795,751 12,445,569 18,241,320 

Issue of new shares      

  13 January to 12 February 2021 - 62,801,755 6,280 872,944 879,224 

Exercise of warrants 29 January 2021 - 6,000,000 600 29,400 30,000 

Issue of new shares 23 February 2021 - 21,000,000 2,100 296,100 298,200 

Exercise of warrants 15 April 2021 - 6,000,000 600 29,400 30,000 

Release of warrants reserve - - - 801 801 

As at 31 December 2021 20,811,528,562 2,079,071,986 5,805,331 13,674,214 19,479,545 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
20 Share capital (continued) 
 
Warrants 
 
Warrants to subscribe for new Ordinary Shares in the Company were in issue as follows: 

 2021 2020 

 
 

No. of  
warrants 

Weighted 
average 

price 

£ 

 
No. of 

warrants 

Weighted 
average 

price 

£ 

At 1 January  12,000,000 0.0047 49,451 0.0500 

Issued during the year - - 185,637,856 0.0047 

Lapsed during the year - - (49,451) 0.0500 

Exercised during the year (12,000,000) 0.0047 (173,637,856) 0.0047 

Outstanding at 31 December - - 12,000,000 0.0047 

 
The warrants outstanding at 31 December 2020 had a weighted average remaining contractual life of 4 months. 
 
The fair value of the warrants granted in the prior year were calculated using the Black Scholes model. 
 
Share options in GyroMetric Systems Limited 
 
At 31 December 2020 share options were in issue relating to shares in GyroMetric Systems Limited.  There was no exercise of these 
options prior to the disposal of 74% of the holding in GyroMetric Systems Limited detailed in note 17. 
 

21 Share-based payments 

 
Share option plan 
During the year 7,000,000 share options were granted to Alex Vergopoulus, a director of the company, under the existing incentive plan 
at that time.  The options vested immediately.  In addition 4,000,000 share options were granted to employees.  Details of the options are 
set out below. 
 
Agreement was also made for the issue of 103,953,600 share options to Mark Duffin under the 2021 incentive plan.  There were varying 
vesting and exercise conditions on the options as set out below. 
 

Fair value of share options 
The fair value of the share options granted in the year have been calculated using the Black Scholes model assuming the inputs shown 
below: 
 

Grant date 18 February 2021 23 February 2021 1 September 2021 

No of options granted 7,000,000 4,000,000 103,953,600 

Share price on date of grant 1.85p 1.50p 1.25p 

Exercise price 1.85p 1.50p 1.00p – 4.00p 

Continuous growth rate 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 

Dividend yield 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 

Volatility 75.49% 75.63% 76.71% 

Time to maturity 3 years 3.5 years 7 years 

Value of option in accounts 0.9068p 0.7867p 0.6192p – 0.9088p 

 
Volatility was measured over a 3 year period. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 

22 Convertible loan stock 

Group and Company 
  

2021 

£ 

2020  

£ 

As at 1 January    2,000 103,000 

Repayment/conversion of loan stock and interest   - (105,085) 

Interest waived   (2,000) - 

Accrued interest   - 4,085 

At 31 December    - 2,000 

The convertible loan stock was fully repaid/converted during 2020, with the balance representing shares to be issued in relation to interest 
which were waived during 2021. 
 
23 Other reserves 
 
The measurement requirements of IFRS 2 have been implemented in respect of share options and warrants granted.  

Group   

 

 Share option 
 and warrants  

reserve 

Merger relief 
reserve  

Merger  

reserve 

 
 

Total 

  £ £ £ £ 

At 1 January 2020  24,846 - (499,999) (475,153) 

Share based payments arising   434,474 - - 434,474 

Share warrants issued  10,712 - - 10,712 

Share warrants exercised  (9,911) - - (9,911) 

Share warrants lapsed   (24,846) - - (24,846) 

Arising on consolidation  - 1,740,000 - 1,740,000 

At 31 December 2020  435,275 1,740,000 (499,999) 1,675,276 

At 1 January 2021  435,275 1,740,000 (499,999) 1,675,276 

Share based payments arising   165,835 - - 165,835 

Share based payments exercised (434,474) - - (434,474) 

Share warrants exercised  (801) - - (801) 

At 31 December 2021  165,835 1,740,000 (499,999) 1,405,836 

 
Company 
Other reserves comprised share option and warrants reserve as above. 
 
 
24 Non controlling interest 

    Total 

Group    £ 

As at 1 January 2020    (48,045) 

Non controlling interest in share of losses for the year   (32,634) 

At 31 December 2020    (80,679) 

Non controlling interest in share of losses for the year   (11,756) 

Disposal of non controlling interest    92,435 

At 31 December 2021    - 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2020 
 
25 Trade and other payables 

 2021 2020 

 Group Company Group Company 

 £ £ £ £ 

Trade payables 153,881 121,714 115,648 69,673 

VAT payable - - 1,755 - 

Corporation tax - - - - 

Accruals 291,841 171,146 94,265 84,376 

Other creditors 16,761 15,548 121,419 38,574 

 462,483 308,408 333,087 192,623 

 
26 Lease obligations 

 

 
  2021 2020 

Group – Lease liabilities   £ £ 

Total at 31 December   - 36,875 

Less: non-current portion   - (7,375) 

Current portion   - 29,500 

 
Payment was made during the year in full and final settlement of the lease obligation. 

27 Provisions 

   2021 2020 

Group    £ £ 

Closure costs in respect of the Geocurve business    - 13,000 

 
28 Deferred tax 

 2021 2020 

 Group Company Group Company 

 £ £ £ £ 

Deferred tax liabilities     

Deferred tax liability  - - - - 

 
There was no movement in the deferred tax account in either period. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
29 Financial instruments 
 
Categories of financial instruments 
 

  2021 2021 

  Group Company 

  £ £ 

Assets – Amortised cost    

   Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments)  27,352 1,882,774 

   Cash and cash equivalents  3,760,992 3,719,134 

  3,788,344 5,601,908 

Liabilities – At amortised cost    

Trade and other payables (excluding non-financial liabilities)  170,642 191,615 

 

  2020 2020 

  Group Company 

  £ £ 

Assets – Amortised cost    

   Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments)  1,825,412 1,935,124 

   Cash and cash equivalents  3,741,135 3,590,521 

  5,566,547 5,525,645 

Liabilities – At amortised cost    

Trade and other payables (excluding non-financial liabilities)  237,067 112,787 

Lease liabilities  36,875 - 

  273,942 112,787 

 
30 Notes to the cash flow statement 

 
Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities 

Group   

 
1 January 

2021 

Cash flows 
from 

financing 
activities 

Non cash 
flows  

31 
December 

2021 

 
 Repayments 

Lease 
payments 

waived  

 £ £ £ £ 

Lease liabilities (note 26)  36,875 (20,000) (16,875) - 

Total liabilities from financing activities 36,875 (20,000) (16,875) - 

 

 

 
1 January 

2020 

Cash flows 
from 

financing 
activities 

31 
December 

2020 

   Repayments  

  £ £ £ 

Lease liabilities (note 26)   66,375 (29,500) 36,875 

Finance lease obligations  60,825 (60,825) - 

Total liabilities from financing activities  127,200 (90,325) 36,875 

 

Company 
There were no liabilities arising from financing activities in the Company. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
31 Financial commitments 
 
Operating leases 
 
The Group had no significant operating lease obligations at 31 December 2021 or 31 December 2020. 
 
Other commitments 
 
At 31 December 2021 the Group had no capital commitments.  At 31 December 2020 the Group had capital commitments of £250,381 
of which £227,904 had been paid and is included within other receivables.  The Company had no capital commitments at 31 December 
2021 or 31 December 2020. 
 
32 Contingent liabilities  
 
The Group has received a claim made against its subsidiary in the US following the dismissal of an employee. The claim is in the hands 
of the Group’s lawyers and the outcome has not yet been reached, however the Directors believe that the claim is without merit. In the 
event of a settlement, the exact level of compensation is unknown at this stage. On this basis, the contingent liability cannot be 
quantified. 
 
33 Related party transactions 
 
Directors’ transactions 
 
Directors’ remuneration is disclosed in note 8. 
 
At 31 December 2021 Paul Ryan, a former director owed the Company £24,750 (2020 £nil).  A provision for impairment against the loan 
has been made. 
 
Paul Ryan is the owner of Warande1970 BVBA which the Group pays in relation to Paul’s director fee. £8,000 was outstanding at 31 
December 2020 which was paid during the current year. 
 
Trevor Brown is a former director and significant shareholder of Braveheart Investment Group plc.  During the prior year the Company 
purchased a 51.73% interest in Pharm 2 Farm Limited from Braveheart Investment Group plc settled through the issue of 310,354,815 
ordinary shares. 
 
During the previous year Hugo Gillum-Webb, a Director of that Company repaid a loan made to him of £11,038.  
 
Various amounts have been advanced by the Directors of the Parent Company and Subsidiaries. The following amounts were outstanding:  
 

 2021 
At disposal 

 
2020 

At year end 

P & R Orton 6,312  6,312 

A Ferguson 19,200  19,200 

 
Parent Company transactions with subsidiary companies  
 
At the year end £1,858,024 (2020 £430,124) was due from the subsidiary companies after provisions. 
 
During the year the Company waived balances of £168,569 and £229,000 which were due from GyroMetric Systems Ltd and Cloudveil 
Limited as part of the disposal of interests in these entities.  Impairments of £141,600 and £114,000 respectively had been made to the 
balances at 31 December 2020. 
 
During the year the Company wrote off the balance of £930,667 due to Geocurve Limited when it was dissolved.  Impairment of £986,664 
had been made at 31 December 2020 resulting on a credit to the income statement of the company in the current year. 
 
34 Ultimate controlling party 
 
There is not considered to be a controlling party.  For details of major shareholdings please refer to the Director’s Report.  
 
35 Events after the reporting year 
 
On 10 February 2022 it was announced that in recognition of Mark Duffin’s significant additional hours being worked and also to further 
incentivise him to continue to work towards raising value for the shareholders, the terms of the share options agreed to be issued in 2021 
detailed in note 21 were amended such that the exercise price was reduced to 1 pence per share and the options were to vest immediately 
with all being exercisable up until 1 September 2028. 

In addition, as announced on that date, in order to incentivise the key acquisitions management team options and cash bonuses have 
been granted exercisable/payable on the successful completion of a significant acquisition.  
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COMPANY INFORMATION 

 
Directors Mark Duffin (Chief Executive Officer) 
 Richard Clarke (Non-Executive Chairman)  
 Gareth Cave  (Non-Executive Director)  
 Felicity Sartain (Non-Executive Director)  
 
Other Key Management Jeremy McNamara (Chief Operating Officer) 
 Andrew Stedman (Chief Financial Officer) 
  
Website  www.nanosynthgroup.com 
 
Registered Office 27-28 Eastcastle Street 
 London W1W 8DH 
 
Registered Number 09109008 
 
Nominated Adviser SP Angel Corporate Finance LLP 
and Broker Prince Frederick House 
 35-39 Maddox Street 
 London W1S 2PP 
 
Solicitors Debello Law 
 10 Brick Street  
 Mayfair 
 London 
 W1J 7HQ 
 
Independent Auditor PKF Littlejohn LLP 
 15 Westferry Circus 
 Canary Wharf 
 London E14 4HD  
 
Registrars Share Registrars Limited 
 First Floor 
 9 Lion and Lamb Yard 
 Farnham 
 Surrey GU9 97LL 
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COMPANY INFORMATION (continued) 
 
Details of the current Directors and Key Management and their backgrounds are as follows: 
 
Mark Duffin 
Chief Executive Officer 
 
Mark Duffin is a qualified Engineer with an MBA. He has extensive experience & leadership in business growth, with skills that include 
leadership in sales/operational management, restructuring, fund raising, increasing profitability, market share & leading teams with 
extensive cross-cultural experience to build shareholder value. He specialises in P&L Management, Board Management, M&A, Start-
up’s, Turnarounds, Private Equity & VC Funding, Negotiations, Financial & Business Modelling, Risk Management, Sales & Operations 
& Cash Management. 
 
 
Andrew Stedman 
Chief Financial Officer  
 
Andrew Stedman is results driven and commercially focused. Andrew joined Angel Share Capital to help underpin the financial rigour 
and commercial support of ASC as the business moved into its next phase of growth. Andrew’s focus throughout his career has been 
on driving incremental value through commercial challenge, cost transformation, stringent and inventive performance management 
techniques in conjunction with cash improvement to provide a sustained platform for business start-up and growth. A career that spans 
over 10 years in Senior Finance, in leadership roles across a number of FTSE 100 organisations.  These Sectors have ranged from 
Recruitment, Engineering, Environment to IT and Telecoms, in regions stretching from Europe, US and across Asia, building strong 
and sustained networks throughout. Andrew’s experience has led to roles ranging from Business Case Modelling, Budgeting / 
Forecasting, Contract Evaluation, Performance Management, Pricing and Portfolio Management, Strategic Planning, Outsourcing to 
Cost and Margin Transformation. 
 
Jeremy McNamara 
Chief Operating Officer  
 
Jeremy McNamara has over 20 years’ experience in major international B2B companies including IT solutions and retail corporations. 
His decisive and pragmatic approach is key to delivering results. Originally qualifying as a chartered accountant, he holds a BSc in 
Operational research and Management. Jeremy is a highly experienced business leader and held many positions in operational 
excellence as CEO, CFO, COO, Managing Director & Marketing Director during which he managed the integration of a €200m business 
in 20 EMEA countries post-acquisition. His intensive international excellence and financial understanding of business turnaround is a 
consistent track record of delivering revenue and profit growth in many sectors. 
 
Richard Clarke 
Non-Executive Chairman 
 
Richard Clarke is a Chartered Accountant and has spent the majority of his career in senior executive roles in technology companies 
involved in aerospace, electronics, optics, semiconductors and nanomaterials.  His experience includes business restructuring, scale-
up, acquisitions and joint-ventures, equity and debt financing and corporate governance, having served on the corporate governance 
committee of the ICAEW for a number of years. He is currently finance director of PowerPhotonic Limited, a manufacturer of advanced 
micro-optics for the laser industry. Prior to joining PowerPhotonic he was finance director of Xennia Technology Limited, a developer of 
industrial inkjet systems, which was sold to Sensient Corporation in 2015. He has a degree in economics from University College 
London (UCL) and an MBA from the University of Bath. 
 
 
Gareth Cave 
Executive Director 
 
Gareth Cave is a university chemistry lecturer at Nottingham Trent University and has spent his academic career researching the many 
applications of nanotechnology, from drug delivery systems to plant food.  Beyond academia, as an active consultant, he shares his 
knowledge and know how into a plethora of industries including pharmaceutical, healthcare, materials, agricultural, food and drink 
industries.  In 2015 he formed Pharm2Farm Ltd, as a university spinout, to help realise the full commercial potential of this 
nanotechnology research. His world leading academic research and international network, from celebrity chefs to Nobel Laureates, 
continues to supply a strong pipeline of innovation and collaborative opportunities to Pharm2Farm and Nanosynth group.  He has B.Sc., 
M.Sc., and Ph.D. chemistry degrees from the University of Warwick, is an active member of the Royal Society of Chemistry and has 
worked as an academic in UK, USA and Australian universities over the course of his career. 
 
 
Felicity Sartain 
Non-Executive Director 
 
Felicity Sartain has a multi-disciplinary background established over 15 years including leadership, commercial and research in the 
healthcare, life science and nanotechnology sectors. She holds a PhD in biotechnology from the University of Cambridge and an MSc 
in chemistry at the University of York. She was a co-inventor of the original technologies at Smart Holograms, a Cambridge University 
spin-out that designed and developed novel biosensors. Felicity co-founded and was the Chief Operating Officer of Closed Loop 
Medicine Ltd, a company developing therapeutic combination products. She is a Director at Profiscio Ltd, a consultancy business to 
support the translation and manage the development of scientific innovation. 
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